Microvascular function variation in a healthy population:

Insights from Oxygenation-Sensitive CMR

Kate Lindsay

Division of Experimental Medicine Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences McGill University, Montreal

May, 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Kate Lindsay 2022

Table of Contents	
1. ABBREVIATION GLOSSARY	2
2. ABSTRACT- ENGLISH	
3. ABSTRACT- FRANÇAIS	5
4. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
5. THESIS OVERVIEW	9
6. CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	10
7. CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND OS-CMR LITERATURE REVIEW	11
7 a Summary	12
7. B. INTRODUCTION	
7. C. PHYSIOLOGY AND FUNCTION OF THE MICROVASCULATURE	
7. D. ASSESSMENT OF VASCULAR FUNCTION	
7. E. PRINCIPLES OF MRI	
7. F. UTILITY OF CARDIOVASCULAR MRI	
7. G. OXYGENATION-SENSITIVE CARDIOVASCULAR MRI (OS-CMR)	
7. H. OS-CMR IN HEALTHY VOLUNTEERS	
7. I. OS-CMR IN CARDIOVASCULAR PATHOLOGIES	25
7. J. BREATHING MANEUVERS	
7. K. LIMITATIONS OF OS-CMR	
7. L. CONCLUSIONS	
7. M. CHAPTER 1 REFERENCES	
8. CHAPTER 2: ORIGINAL RESEARCH MANUSCRIPT	41
8. A. FOREWORD	42
8. B. ORIGINAL RESEARCH MANUSCRIPT	
Abstract	43
Introduction	45
Methods	46
Results	50
Discussion	54
Conclusions and Future Directions	57
Tables and Figures:	
8. C. CHAPTER 2 REFERENCES	67
9. CHAPTER 3: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	72
9. A. SUMMARY	
9. B. INTRODUCTION	
9. C. CONTRIBUTIONS TO UNDERSTANDING OF MICROVASCULAR FUNCTION	
9. D. LIMITATIONS	
9. E. CONCLUSION	80
9. F. CHAPTER 3 REFERENCES	
10. MASTER REFERENCE LIST	84
11. DECLARATIONS	101

1. Abbreviation Glossary

CAD: Coronary Artery disease CMD: Coronary microvascular disease CMR: Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Imaging OS-CMR: Oxygenation-Sensitive Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Imaging **BOLD:** Blood Oxygen Level Dependent MORE: Myocardial oxygenation reserve B-MORE: Breathing Induced Myocardial Oxygenation Reserve CBF: Coronary blood flow VSMCs: Vascular smooth muscle cells CAD: Coronary artery disease **ROS:** Reactive oxygen species CVD: Cardiovascular disease TTDE: Transthoracic doppler echocardiography CT: Computed tomography MBF: Myocardial blood flow PET: Positron emission tomography MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging **RF:** Radiofrequency MPRI: Myocardial perfusion reserve index SSFP: Steady-state free precession SPECT: single-photon emission computerized tomography FFR: Fractional Flow Reserve INOCA: Ischemia without obstructive coronary artery disease CO₂: Carbon dioxide: T: Tesla

2. Abstract- English

Microvascular dysfunction has significant impacts on patient prognosis, even in absence of obstructive coronary artery disease, and may predict future cardiovascular events. Factors like age, sex, and body composition contribute to vascular dysfunction over the lifetime. In otherwise healthy individuals, the impact of these factors is unclear.

Oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging (OS-CMR) is a validated methodology to examine vascular function which exploits the blood oxygen level dependent effect, in which deoxygenated hemoglobin acts as an innate contrast agent in a magnetic field. Through varied OS-CMR signal intensities, regional tissue oxygenation changes during vasodilation are detected. Previous research utilizing OS-CMR observed blunted vascular function in many cardiovascular pathologies. Vasoactive breathing maneuvers, a period of paced hyperventilation followed by a voluntary maximal breath hold, are an endogenous alternative to pharmaceutical vasodilation in OS-CMR. Carbon dioxide variations, inducing vasoconstriction during hyperventilation and vasodilation during the breath hold, act on endothelial cells to modulate vascular tone. The breathing-induced myocardial oxygenation reserve (B-MORE) describes the myocardial oxygenation response during breathing maneuvers. This endothelial-dependent mechanism may provide a valuable assessment of microvascular function, based on meaningful biomarkers instead of secondary surrogate markers such as blood flow or tracer uptake. Previous work demonstrated a transmural gradient of vascular function during endothelial-independent adenosine vasodilation in subjects with risk factors but no cardiovascular disease. In a similar cohort, breathing maneuvers may provide valuable insight into microvascular dysfunction before the onset of cardiovascular disease.

The thesis aims to investigate tissue oxygenation variation as a marker of microvascular function in healthy subjects, providing a better understanding of microvascular dysfunction pathophysiology in such populations. The included study retrospectively assessed the impact of demographic factors on global and regional B-MORE in healthy adults from 4 prospective OS-CMR studies in Montreal, Canada. We hypothesize that demographic factors will impart slight changes to microvascular function across the lifetime, differentially impacting B-MORE.

This thesis includes the first study investigating factors impacting B-MORE in healthy subjects. Several factors differentially impacted microvascular function within the cohort. This indicates that in a healthy population, sex and body composition, including height and body size analysis, are associated with microvascular function and thus lead to baseline value variations. Female sex-specific risk factors may be associated with reduced function (lower B-MORE values). Further research is needed to fully understand the impact of healthy aging on the microvasculature over the lifetime, as it may be impacted by factors not assessed in this study.

Future work should investigate the prognostic value and utility of B-MORE as a marker for microvascular function. Blunted B-MORE may indicate an increased risk for cardiovascular events. As breathing maneuvers employ endothelial-dependent vasodilation it is possible that slight B-MORE variations seen in healthy subjects reflect the biological spectrum of microvascular (endothelial) function. If validated by the invasive reference standards of microvascular function, this methodology could provide a non-invasive and informative test of microvascular function and tissue status. Given the relationship of B-MORE to factors affecting the vasculature in healthy individuals, it appears to be a sensitive

marker to detect microvascular dysfunction at an early, subclinical stage. A methodology of this nature may be instrumental in diagnosing early microvascular disease, improving the prognosis of those at risk of ischemic heart disease.

3. Abstract- Français

Le dysfonctionnement microvasculaire est important pour le pronostic des patients, même en l'absence de maladie coronarienne obstructive, et peut prédire les événements cardiovasculaires. L'âge, le sexe, et la composition corporelle contribuent au dysfonctionnement vasculaire. Chez les individus par ailleurs en bonne santé, l'impact de ces facteurs n'est pas clair.

L'imagerie par résonance magnétique cardiovasculaire sensible à l'oxygénation (OS-CMR) est une méthode validée pour voir la fonction vasculaire, dans lequel l'hémoglobine désoxygénée agit comme agent de contraste dans un champ magnétique. Les variations du signal OS-CMR représentes les changements d'oxygénation des tissus pendant la vasodilatation. Des études utilisant l'OS-CMR ont observé une fonction vasculaire réduite dans plusieurs pathologies cardiovasculaires. Les manœuvres de respiration vasoactive, composées d'une période d'hyperventilation suivie d'une retenue du souffle, sont une alternative endogène à la vasodilatation pharmaceutique dans l'OS-CMR. Le dioxyde de carbone, induisant une vasoconstriction pendant l'hyperventilation et une vasodilatation pendant l'apnée, agissent sur les cellules microvasculaires endothéliales pour moduler le tonus vasculaire. La réserve d'oxygénation du myocarde induite par la respiration (B-MORE) décrit l'oxygénation du myocarde au cours des manœuvres respiratoires. Ce mécanisme endothélial est peut-être une évaluation directe de la fonction microvasculaire. Des travaux antérieurs ont observé un gradient transmural de fonction vasculaire réduite chez des sujets

avec des facteurs de risque mais non la maladie cardiovasculaire, lors d'une vasodilatation à l'adénosine. L'application de manœuvres respiratoires à une cohorte similaire pourrait fournir des informations précieuses sur le dysfonctionnement microvasculaire avant l'apparition de la maladie cardiovasculaire.

L'objectif de cette thèse est d'étudier l'oxygénation des tissus chez des sujets sains comme marqueur de la fonction microvasculaire, permettant de mieux comprendre la pathophysiologie de la dysfonction microvasculaire. L'étude incluse dans cette thèse a évalué rétrospectivement l'impact des facteurs démographiques sur la B-MORE globale et régionale chez des adultes en santé provenant de 4 études prospectives OS-CMR, à Montréal, Canada. Nous émettons l'hypothèse que des facteurs démographiques entraîneront de légers changements dans la fonction microvasculaire au cours de la vie, ce qui aura un impact différentiel sur la B-MORE.

Cette thèse comprend la première étude étudiant les variables impactant le B-MORE au sujets sains. Plusieurs facteurs ont eu un impact différentiel sur la fonction microvasculaire dans la population saine, comme le sexe et la composition corporelle, y compris l'analyse de la taille et de la corpulence. Ces résultats pourraient améliorer la compréhension de la physiologie microvasculaire. Les risques spécifiques au sexe féminin peuvent être associés à une réduction du B-MORE. Des recherches supplémentaires sont nécessaires pour mieux comprendre l'impact de vieillissement sur la microvasculature, car elle peut être influencée par des facteurs non évalués dans cette étude.

La pronostique de le B-MORE doivent être étudier. Un B-MORE réduit indique peutêtre un risque d'événements cardiovasculaires. Comme la méthodologie utilise un

vasodilatation endothéliale-dépendante, les variations en B-MORE reflètent peut-être des anomalies endothéliales. Si c'est valider contre les références invasives, cette méthodologie pourrait devenir un test non invasif et informatif de la fonction microvasculaire. Comme c'est sensible aux facteurs affectant le système vasculaire chez les individus sains, cette méthodologie est probablement sensible au dysfonctionnement précoce. Une méthodologie comme ça pourrait être utile pour diagnostiquer la maladie microvasculaire précoce, améliorant ainsi le pronostic des personnes à risque de cardiopathie ischémique.

4. Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Matthias G. Friedrich, whose unparalleled knowledge, inspiration, and passion for his work has motivated me since I was an undergraduate summer student. Dr. Friedrich saw a potential in me I am eternally appreciative for. With his support, I am grateful to have the opportunity to submit this thesis and continue my research towards a doctorate degree.

The completion of this thesis would not have been possible without Dr. Elizabeth Hillier, whose belief in my work, support, and guidance has been instrumental at each stage of this process. Dr. Hillier's patience, dedication, and unwavering support cannot be overstated, and I cannot begin to express my gratitude for her mentorship.

I gratefully acknowledge Dr. Friedrich and Dr. Hillier's contributions to the conceptual design of this work and, alongside with Dr. Judy Luu, editorial revisions of this thesis. Additionally, the data retrospectively accessed for my research would not have been available without Dr. Hillier's analysis of the CMR images, or Margherita Leo and Sylvie Gelineau performing the OS-CMR scans. I gratefully acknowledge the help of Elisavet Konidis in study protocol revision and ethics submission.

I had the great pleasure of working with the entire team of the Courtois Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Research Group at the McGill University Health Centre. Thank you to Adonis Rodaros, Jeannette Piedade, Kathleen Amedee, Fatima Hafdi, and Julia Lombardi, whose patience and support in managing the Courtois CMR research have allowed myself and the other students to pursue our goals in good hands. Margherita Leo and Sylvie Gelineau, the technologists who face even the most challenging CMR cases with a smile, are an essential part of the team who have supported me greatly. A special acknowledgement to Dr. Judy Luu for her sage advice and motivation. I gratefully recognize the knowledge of Dr. Javad Rafiee, Dr. Michael Chetrit, Dr. Andrew Coristine, Dr. Mitchel Benovoy, Dr. Filipe Henriques, and Julie Lebel, who have provided me with welcome advice over the years. To my fellow students, Katerina Eyre, Mayssa Moukarzel, Sabri Conde-Yassin, Mahya Khaki, Jason Covone, Ria Garg, Saad Razzaq, and Leila Haririsanati, each of you have motivated me throughout this journey. Whether attending conferences together or simply meeting for a cup of coffee, you have provided me with valuable encouragement that I am thankful for.

A thank you to the guidance of my thesis committee, Dr. Allan Sniderman, Dr. Andrew Bateman, and Dr. Louise Pilote, for their insights and contributions throughout my master's degree.

Finally, a thank you to my family. To my mother and father, your support and nurturing has been instrumental in allowing me to pursue my dreams in science. To Emma and Andrew, your kindness, curiosity, and support has been a welcome respite from the effort that went into this body of work. Elias, your compassion, profound belief in me, and support has never wavered, and for that I thank you.

5. Thesis Overview

This body of work is divided into 3 chapters. The main objective of this work is to improve the understanding of the pathophysiology of microvascular dysfunction over the lifetime, by examining tissue oxygenation variation in healthy subjects as a marker of microvascular function. Chapter 1 summarizes the physiology of microvascular function and coronary microvascular disease, reviews the methodology behind cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, and summarizes existing research and limitations of oxygenation-sensitive cardiac magnetic resonance. Chapter 2 is an original research manuscript investigating the variation in vascular function seen in healthy individuals, through the breathing induced myocardial oxygenation reserve viewed with oxygenation-sensitive cardiac magnetic resonance. Chapter 3 will summarize the previous chapters, contextualizing their implications in the context of clinical cardiovascular research.

6. Contribution of Authors

Chapter 1:

Kate Lindsay (KL) was the primary writer and editor of the chapter. Dr. Elizabeth Hillier (EH) and Dr. Matthias G. Friedrich (MGF) contributed by editing the text after the first draft was completed by KL.

Chapter 2:

This original research manuscript is being prepared for future submission and publication with KL as the first author. KL was the primary writer and editor of the chapter. KL was involved in writing the study protocols for ethics submission, study design, data organization and statistical analysis, interpretation of data, figure and table creation, as well as development, writing, and editing of the manuscript. Elisavet Konidis contributed by revising study protocols for ethics submission after their first draft was completed by KL. EH contributed by analysing the CMR images retrospectively accessed for this work, conceptual design of the study, and editing of the manuscript after the first draft was completed by KL. MGF was involved in conceptual design of the study and editing of the manuscript after the first draft was completed by KL. Dr. Judy Luu (JL) contributed by editing the manuscript after the first draft was completed by KL.

Chapter 3:

KL was the primary writer and editor of the chapter. JL and MGF contributed by editing the text after the first draft was completed by KL.

7. Chapter 1: Introduction and OS-CMR Literature Review

7. A. SUMMARY	12
7. B. INTRODUCTION	13
7. C. PHYSIOLOGY AND FUNCTION OF THE MICROVASCULATURE	16
7. D. ASSESSMENT OF VASCULAR FUNCTION	19
7. E. PRINCIPLES OF MRI	20
7. F. UTILITY OF CARDIOVASCULAR MRI	22
7. G. OXYGENATION-SENSITIVE CARDIOVASCULAR MRI (OS-CMR)	22
7. H. OS-CMR IN HEALTHY VOLUNTEERS	24
7.I. OS-CMR IN CARDIOVASCULAR PATHOLOGIES	25
7.J. BREATHING MANEUVERS	26
7. K. LIMITATIONS OF OS-CMR	
7. L. CONCLUSIONS	
7. M. CHAPTER 1 REFERENCES	

7. a. Summary

The microvasculature is an essential part of the cardiovascular system, adapting to stressors and the functional demands of the heart. Over time, cardiovascular risk factors impart structural, molecular, and functional alterations to the microvasculature, progressively inducing dysfunction. Microvascular dysfunction has significant impacts on patient symptoms, prognosis, and cardiovascular event risk. Factors such as age, sex, and body composition impart subclinical deficits to microvascular function over the lifetime, though their impact in otherwise healthy individuals is unclear. Oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging (OS-CMR) is a validated non-invasive methodology to examine vascular function. Previous research utilizing OS-CMR has observed a blunted microvascular oxygenation reserve during pharmaceutical vasodilation in several cardiovascular pathologies, including those with cardiovascular risk factors but no overt cardiovascular disease. Vasoactive breathing maneuvers, composed of hyperventilation followed by a voluntary maximal breath hold, offer an endogenous alternative to pharmaceutical vasodilation due to the vasodilatory properties of carbon dioxide. Unlike adenosine, breathing maneuvers induce endothelial-dependent vasodilation, and thus, in conjunction with OS-CMR, offer a true assessment of microvascular physiology. Though novel, and not without limitations, OS-CMR in conjunction with breathing maneuvers is a safe and efficient methodology to assess vascular function and tissue oxygenation status. Further validation could establish this non-invasive methodology as an informative assessment of microvascular function.

7. b. Introduction

Diagnostic testing is key in the prevention of ischemic heart disease, the leading cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide (1). However, a significant proportion of patients with suspected coronary artery disease (CAD) show normal or non-obstructive coronary arteries on coronary angiography (2). Nonetheless, this population has significant symptoms and increased cardiovascular risk, for which microvascular abnormalities are likely responsible (3,4). It is now known that microvascular dysfunction, independent of obstructive CAD, is an important component of ischemic heart disease, modulator of disease burden, and predictor of patient outcomes (5). As such, diagnostic testing capable of visualizing deficits in microvascular function is important in preventing all manifestations of ischemic heart disease.

Coronary microvascular disease (CMD) is an overarching term which encompasses all pathologies affecting the coronary microvasculature (5). Inflammatory, endocrine, and epigenetic pathways can encourage CMD over the lifetime, driving dysfunction of endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells (6). Cardiovascular risk factors and underlying cardiomyopathies may contribute to the adverse vascular remodeling observed in CMD (6). The structural and functional alterations seen in CMD may be initial warnings of the burden of cardiovascular risk factors on the microvasculature, visible before epicardial disease (7). CMD has significant impacts on patient symptoms, prognosis, and cardiovascular event risk. Women with CMD are at a greater risk of symptoms, comorbidities, and poor prognosis, despite being less likely than men to present with obstructive CAD, possibly due to femalesex specific risk factors acting in conjunction with traditional cardiovascular risk factors (5,8,9). These findings highlight the need for a deeper understanding of the impact of cardiovascular risk factors on microvascular function.

The microvasculature directly maintains organ function through the shuttling of oxygen and essential nutrients to tissue, interacting with nearly every living cell in the body (10,11). CMD manifests through metabolic, inflammatory, and structural changes that impair the vascular response to stressors (5). This dysfunction appears to precede overt injury in vascular pathologies like cardiovascular disease (CVD) (5,12). Microvascular dysfunction may act as a key early marker of future vascular disease, due to cardiometabolic risk factors such as hypertension, obesity, and diabetes mellitus (5,12). As such, the understanding of microvascular function, and early detection of its dysfunction, is important in preventing adverse vascular outcomes across the lifetime.

Cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) is a non-invasive imaging modality useful in assessing vascular function. It has high spatial resolution, and can measure several parameters, such as tissue characterization, within one exam (13–15). First-pass perfusion CMR offers a semi-quantitative assessment of vascular function through measures of myocardial blood flow at rest and during pharmaceutical stress (4,16,17). However, contraindications to gadolinium and pharmaceutical stress agents can limit its use in some patient populations (18).

A novel non-invasive method to assess vascular function without exogeneous contrast agents is oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging (OS-CMR). The paramagnetic properties of deoxygenated hemoglobin in blood allow it to act as an endogenous contrast agent, creating inhomogeneities in the local magnetic field and thus altering signal intensity when its concentration is varied (19,20). Known as the blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) effect, this property can be exploited to detect regional tissue

oxygenation changes visible on OS-CMR images. In the heart, signal intensity changes reflect the oxygen supply and demand balance of the myocardium, represented by the myocardial oxygenation reserve (MORE) (20). MORE, the ratio of myocardial oxygenation during stress and at baseline, is reduced in several cardiovascular pathologies, indicative of vascular dysfunction. Notably, MORE deficits during adenosine stress have been observed in subjects with cardiovascular risk factors but no clinical disease, demonstrating MORE's sensitivity to the early impacts of risk factors on the vasculature (21).

Recent work has identified standardized vasoactive breathing maneuvers, hyperventilation followed by a voluntary maximal breath hold, as a suitable alternative to pharmaceutical vasodilation in OS-CMR due to the vasodilatory properties of carbon dioxide (22,23). This methodology shows a greater sensitivity to myocardial oxygenation changes than adenosine, while reducing adverse effects (24). Carbon dioxide is an endothelial-dependent vasodilator, unlike adenosine (25,26). Acting on the endothelial cells which line the microvasculature, it may provide direct insights into microvascular physiology and function, visualized with OS-CMR. Breathing induced MORE (B-MORE), describing the tissue oxygenation response to breathing maneuvers, is sensitive to inducible ischemia, and has been observed to be blunted in several patient populations (27–31), and animal models of CAD (32). Notably, women with ischemia without obstructive CAD show a heterogeneous response to breathing maneuvers during OS-CMR, likely reflecting underlying microvascular dysfunction (29). While novel, OS-CMR with breathing maneuvers is a safe and informative test of vascular function, validated in detecting inducible ischemia, that shows great promise in assessing microvascular dysfunction.

7. c. Physiology and Function of the Microvasculature

The microvasculature, representing the smallest vessels of the circulatory system, directly supports organ function through the transfer of oxygen and nutrients to tissues, making it an essential component of the cardiovascular system (11). The coronary microvasculature adapts to the functional demands of the heart to ensure adequate perfusion both, during resting conditions and during periods of higher demand (5,33). Malfunction of the microvascular system may result in a disbalance caused by an insufficient adjustment of coronary blood flow (CBF) during stress or, even under resting conditions, resulting in a cellular lack of oxygen, i.e. myocardial ischemia (5,33).

Microvascular dysfunction, though often excluded in historical definitions of heart disease which focused on epicardial atherosclerosis, plays a significant role in modulating cardiovascular event risk, prognosis, and symptoms (5). This is likely due to the microvasculature's essential role in modulating CBF through the capillaries to meet the functional needs of the myocardium. Coronary microvascular disease (CMD) refers to pathologies specifically affecting the microvasculature (5). It has been suggested that CMD may act as a window into the risk of future cardiovascular events (34) and may be the first indicator of CVD risk, well before the manifestation of detectable coronary artery stenosis (7).

CMD manifests through structural changes, known as microvascular remodeling, and a spectrum of functional abnormalities (5). Structural changes, typically narrowing of microvascular vessels, have been linked to cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension and diabetes (1,5,35). Functional abnormalities, on the other hand, mainly manifest through dynamic endothelial dysfunction, impairing smooth muscle function in the presence of

physiological or pharmacological stress (5). In healthy microvasculature, the endothelium modulates smooth muscle function through release of vasodilatory compounds, primarily nitric oxide, which increase CBF and thereby myocardial perfusion during stress (5). In CMD, endothelial dysfunction attenuates this response, resulting in blunted CBF augmentation, or even vasoconstriction, during stress (36). Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), which regulate arterial tone, can also show functional abnormalities in CMD, independent of the endothelium. Such changes have been shown to lead to a blunted vasodilation during pharmaceutical stress targeting VSMCs, notably in populations at risk of CVD such as metabolic syndrome (37) and hypertension (38). Other abnormalities include acetylcholine-induced spasms of the epicardium or microvasculature, in roughly half of patients with angina but no CAD, which may be related to endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis (39,40).

The origins of CMD are still under investigation, though molecular, functional, and structural abnormalities all play a role (6). Inflammation with molecular oxidative stress is likely a key driver of CMD pathogenesis, resulting from reactive oxygen species (ROS) (41). Increased intracellular ROS inhibits the endothelial production of vasodilatory substances, promoting vasoconstriction (42). On a functional level, impaired dilation and increased constriction caused by endothelium-dependent or independent mechanisms are likely responsible for CMD (6,33,43). Endothelial-independent mechanisms, however, are less well understood, but likely also involve impaired VSMC relaxation. This deficit may be due to increased vasoconstrictors, overreactions to normal stimuli, or abnormal sympathetic activity (6). On a structural level, alterations due to underlying cardiomyopathies, or the inflammatory impact of metabolic disease, may be responsible. Adverse remodeling, through pathways such as smooth muscle hypertrophy and increased collagen deposition, alters CBF as microvascular

lumina narrow and fibrosis develops (44,45). These abnormalities are well-documented in cases of hypertensive heart disease and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (44,45).

CMD and associated abnormalities do not exist in a vacuum. The pathophysiology of the microvasculature is intrinsically linked to macrovascular, i.e. epicardial, disease (5). In fact, patients may concurrently have macrovascular and CMD, complicating its recognition and diagnosis (5,46). If CMD is undiagnosed, it can lead to inappropriate clinical decisions such as with-holding medication or unnecessary revascularization procedures; this may worsen patient prognosis. Indeed, recent research acknowledges that CMD is an important predictor of cardiovascular outcomes, independent of epicardial disease, and should not be ignored (5,34,47–49). These adverse cardiovascular outcomes are observed in both men and women with CMD. However, women are at a greater risk of symptoms, comorbidities, and poor prognosis, possibly due to specific female risk factors in conjunction with traditional CVD risk factors, despite data showing that they are less likely than men to have obstructive CAD (5,9). As such, the abnormalities that characterize CMD may have a stronger prognostic value in women, especially in those with vascular risk factors (5). These findings highlight the need for a deeper understanding of microvascular function variations with vascular risk factors across the lifespan. However, a major impediment in the assessment of microvascular function are difficulties of its verification or exclusion in clinical settings. Traditional methods to assess epicardial disease in-vivo cannot visualize the microvasculature (13). Therefore, to diagnose CMD, a direct interrogation of microvascular function is required (5). To meet this need, several imaging modalities to assess microvascular function have been proposed and validated in recent years.

7. d. Assessment of Vascular Function

Though formerly exclusive to invasive, catheterization-based methods, microvascular function can now be assessed non-invasively. Unlike in epicardial disease, the small vessels of the microvasculature cannot be imaged in vivo with coronary angiography or intracoronary imaging due to limits of reach and spatial resolution (13). To clinically assess CMD, indirect measurements of CBF are used. To do so, the microvascular response to vasodilatory stimuli is assessed, measuring CBF at baseline and during maximal vasodilation. The vasodilatory stimulus, usually pharmaceutical, is selected to target either VSMCs, in endothelium-independent vasodilation, or endothelial cells themselves, in endothelium-dependent vasodilation (13).

Non-invasive methods include transthoracic doppler echocardiography (TTDE), myocardial contrast echocardiography, dynamic myocardial perfusion computed tomography (CT), positron emission tomography (PET), and CMR (13). TTDE measures CBF velocity as an indirect measure of CBF, at baseline and during vasodilator stimuli, by pulsed wave doppler echocardiography. TTDE is a cost-effective method that can be used at the patient bedside (13). However, evidence so far is limited to its use in the left anterior descending artery, the method is limited in patients with a limited acoustic window or patients with obesity, and is highly dependent on operator experience (5,13). Myocardial contrast echocardiography utilizes the properties of microbubbles with air administered intravenously as a contrast agent, to assess myocardial blood flow (MBF). Though it is cost-effective, widespread use is limited. In addition to being operator-dependent, major adverse events due to microbubbles occur in some patients, it is difficult to maintain the image plane during microbubble variables (13,50,51). PET is a technique which acquires images using specific radionuclide tracers to

reveal tissue function, and it shows exceptional sensitivity and specificity to study the microcirculation. Its greatest advantage is that it obtains a quantitative MBF measurement, before and during stress, and it can assess global and regional microvascular function (13). However, PET is expensive, time-consuming, has a poor spatial resolution, and relies on the use of radioactive material with associated risks for patients (13,52). Dynamic CT acquires multiple images as iodinated contrast moves through the myocardium, estimating myocardial blood flow and providing a functional assessment of the coronary arteries and myocardium (5). Limitations include its low temporal resolution and exposure of both patients and physicians to ionizing radiation. Lastly, CMR is a promising methodology to assess vascular function. It shows a high spatial resolution, is non-invasive, and allows measures of several parameters, such as tissue morphology, in the same exam (14,15). Its methodology in assessing vascular function will be further described in Section 7.f. Notably, the innate principles of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) allow CMR to acquire images without ionizing radiation, further differentiating this modality from PET and CT. As such, CMR has the potential to assess CMD non-invasively, while overcoming the common limitations of other imaging modalities.

7. e. Principles of MRI

MRI is based on the principles of nuclear magnetic resonance technology and the innate properties of hydrogen nuclei, which act like small magnets with positive and negative poles. Hydrogen nuclei, throughout the human body, are aligned randomly in free conditions. However, when placed into magnetic fields, like that of an MRI scanner, these nuclei align in the direction of that magnetic field. Put simply, magnetic resonance signals are collected from hydrogen in body tissues and transformed into visible images (53). This is advantageous as it avoids the use of ionizing radiation, known to have deleterious effects on the heart (54). The magnetic field of the MRI scanner is used to align the hydrogen nuclei in the body. High energy radiofrequency (RF) pulses are used in bursts to push the nuclei out of their alignment, and into an excited state of resonance (53). After the RF pulse is turned off, the nuclei realign in their non-excited, equilibrium state, while emitting an electromagnetic signal. MRI scanner hardware receives this signal and utilizes spatial encoding gradients to store signal data in what's known as a k-space matrix (55). Fourier transformations are then used to mathematically process the k-space matrix and produce an interpretable MRI image (55). In the resulting image, the distribution of known signal intensities within anatomical structures allows clinicians to identify their components, including fat, pathologic abnormalities, edema, or fibrosis (15,56,57).

The realignment of the nuclei to their equilibrium, once the RF pulse is turned off, is characterized by two parameters: T1 (longitudinal) and T2 (transverse) relaxation. These parameters describe tissue presence and type, providing MRI with very good soft-tissue contrast (58). As different tissues have different relaxation times, they can be quantified accurately using T1 or T2 imaging. T1 quantifies the longitudinal component's recovery, in the direction of the magnetic field, to equilibrium (58). T1 values are increased in several pathologies primarily due to increase of interstitial space, as in fibrosis or amyloid deposition (57–59). T2 relaxation describes the loss of coherence in the spins of the nuclei, following their alignment due to the RF pulse. When tissue water content increases, T2 is more substantially increased than T1 (15). As such, T2 values are sensitive to myocardial edema in several pathologies, such as acute infarction and myocarditis (60,61). Tissue characterization with T1 and T2 values is a unique aspect of CMR which distinguishes it from other imaging modalities and contributes to its utility in multiple clinical populations (14).

7. f. Utility of Cardiovascular MRI

CMR is not only used for tissue characterization but is also the current reference standard in quantitative imaging of cardiovascular function and morphology, with a role for the non-invasive assessment of vascular function (62). Techniques used are case-specific, selected based on suspected clinical conditions to make up the CMR acquisition protocol (14). In cases of suspected CMD, CMR first pass stress perfusion can be used to obtain diagnostic and prognostic information on vascular function (16,63). This technique uses pharmaceutical vasodilator stress and gadolinium-based contrast agents to evaluate myocardial ischemia, by quantifying MBF at-rest and during stress-induced maximal hyperemia. The images collected, known as first-pass perfusion images, are evaluated semi-quantitatively to calculate stress-induced myocardial perfusion reserve index (MPRI) (17).

CMR has been used to assess CMD in a wide variety of clinical populations, including those with CVD risk factors and CAD patients (64,65). However, it is nonetheless limited by reliance on gadolinium-based contrast agents, contraindicated in some patient populations (18). Promisingly, recent developments suggest that exogeneous contrast may not be necessary to assess vascular function, effectively advancing CMR as a risk-free assessment of CMD, through techniques that exploit the endogenous contrast of hemoglobin in blood.

7. g. Oxygenation-sensitive Cardiovascular MRI (OS-CMR)

In 1936, Linus Pauling first discovered that the magnetic properties of blood are not homogeneous (66). He found that arterial and venous blood differ in their magnetic properties due to the greater concentration of the deoxygenated form of hemoglobin in venous blood. This discovery would later form the basis of the BOLD effect and its utility in MRI. In a magnetic field as in that of an MRI scanner, deoxygenated hemoglobin in blood acts as a paramagnetic material, slightly attracted to the magnetic field. This property causes spin-spin interaction in the nearby magnetic field, altering signal intensity when the concentration of deoxygenated hemoglobin varies, and accelerating the decay of transverse (T2) relaxation (20). T2*, a subset signal of T2, refers to the loss of the transverse signal, which deoxygenated hemoglobin accelerates. In short, its paramagnetic properties allow the de-oxygenation of hemoglobin to act as an innate contrast agent, visualized on magnetic resonance images (20). This is known as the BOLD effect. Imaging can exploit this effect and use it to detect regional changes in tissue oxygenation, termed oxygenation-sensitive imaging.

Landmark work by Ogawa (1992) showed that external stimuli cause minute changes to blood flow in the brain. The results of these changes were detectable with oxygenationsensitive imaging (67). This work kickstarted the field of functional brain MRI, utilizing color maps to view dynamic oxygenation changes in the brain (67). The utility of oxygenation-sensitive imaging to investigate tissue oxygenation was later transitioned to the myocardium, denoted as OS-CMR (19,68–70).

In the myocardium, signal intensity changes viewed by OS-CMR reflect the oxygenation of blood in capillary beds, which in turn represent the oxygen supply and demand balance of the myocardium (20). These changes are quantitatively measured through the MORE, the ratio of myocardial oxygenation during vasodilatory stress to the myocardial oxygenation at baseline (20,68). As such, MORE viewed by OS-CMR is a direct marker of tissue oxygenation which can identify vascular dysfunction or inducible ischemia (71–73). Early OS-CMR studies in

animal models and healthy volunteers validated MORE as a marker of tissue oxygenation before its use could be established in patient populations.

7. h. OS-CMR in Healthy Volunteers

Healthy volunteers show a characteristic response to vasoactive stimuli which is visible on OS-CMR images. OS-CMR is capable of visualizing myocardial oxygenation changes due to the properties of deoxygenated hemoglobin, as in cerebral studies. The concentration of deoxyhemoglobin will be diluted if the supply of oxygenated blood increases without a matched increase in myocardial oxygen demand (20). Therefore, if a vasodilatory stimulus is applied, the concentration of deoxyhemoglobin should decrease in healthy vasculature, leading to an increase in T2*, and therefore increased signal intensity on OS-CMR images (20).

Several early OS-CMR studies validated this principle. Pre-clinical studies utilized ex-vivo models (70) to demonstrate the association of signal intensity to blood oxygenation, and animal models (74) demonstrated hypoxia-induced changes in myocardium due to the BOLD effect. Niemi (1996) and Wacker (1999) respectively observed that dipyridamole-induced increases in myocardial blood flow correlated to increased myocardial signal intensity in healthy volunteers (19,75). Li et al. (1996) determined that signal intensity changes in healthy volunteers largely reflected changes in myocardial oxygenation, not blood flow (69). During a simultaneous increase of blood flow and oxygen demand with dobutamine, there was no significant change in signal intensity. However, an increase in blood flow without increased oxygen consumption, using dipyridamole, did result in an increase in myocardial signal intensity, showing that signal intensity changes likely reflect oxygenation changes rather than blood flow (20,69). Additionally, myocardial signal intensity changes in canine myocardium

were validated against microsphere studies (76). By successfully demonstrating the BOLD effect in the myocardium, these pre-clinical studies allowed for further investigations of signal intensity differences between healthy volunteers and patients with known or suspected CAD and, later, diverse cardiovascular pathologies.

7. i. OS-CMR in Cardiovascular Pathologies

Unlike in healthy individuals, dysfunctional vasculature cannot effectively respond to vasoactive stimuli, and an inflow of oxygenated blood will not occur to match increased oxygen demand. In cases of ischemia, or myocardial deoxygenation, there is in fact a greater concentration of deoxyhemoglobin in capillary blood, which leads to T2* shortening and therefore decreased signal intensity on OS-CMR images (20).

A blunted MORE as an indicator of vascular dysfunction has been validated in several pathologies. Early OS-CMR studies demonstrated that BOLD signal intensity at rest and during stress could identify stenotic coronary arteries without exogeneous contrast agent use (77,78). Later work explored the potential of a steady-state free precession (SSFP) sequence to identify stenotic vessels in animal models (79,80). The first clinical OS-CMR study using the SSFP sequence in human models was led by Karamitsos (2010) (72). They observed that in CAD patients, reduced perfusion does not always coincide with reduced oxygenation, suggesting that oxygenation measured by OS-CMR may be a better marker for coronary artery stenosis than PET-derived perfusion. Several studies assessed CAD in animal models (81,82) and human subjects, observing a decrease in signal intensity in stenosed territories during dipyridamole or adenosine stress compared to non-stenosed territories, distinguishing CAD patients from healthy subjects (71,73,83–86). Several of the above-mentioned studies found that BOLD performed favorably to other techniques such as thallium single-photon

emission computerized tomography (SPECT) (78), PET (72), and fractional flow reserve (FFR) (85,86).

Other pathologies studied with OS-CMR include cardiomyopathies (87,88), chronic kidney disease (89,90), subjects with cardiovascular risk factors such as diabetes (21,91), pulmonary arterial hypertension (92), ST segment elevation myocardial infarction (93), heart failure (94), and myocardial scar (95). All observed varying degrees of decreased signal intensity during stress, thus blunted MORE. However, a study of Syndrome X, now known as ischemia without obstructive coronary artery disease (INOCA), found no global perfusion or oxygenation deficits compared to healthy volunteers, suggesting that microvascular dysfunction in this population may occur regionally rather than through a homogeneous global deficit (96). Following OS-CMR's validation in animal models, healthy volunteers, and several cardiovascular pathologies, recent work revealed a novel method of assessing vascular function with OS-CMR without the need for pharmaceutical vasodilators, reducing the methodology's limitations without compromising its utility.

7. j. Breathing Maneuvers

Endothelium-independent pharmaceutical agents, such as adenosine, have historically been used to assess perfusion or oxygenation. Adenosine has been used in OS-CMR to reveal regional MORE deficits in several patient populations as reviewed in Section 7.i. Adenosine acts on VSMCs to augment synthesis of nitric oxide, a vasodilator (97,98). However, contraindications in some patient groups, and significant adverse effects in over half of patients, limit its universal adoption (99,100). Carbon dioxide (CO₂) is a strong direct vasodilator and thus can be used as an endogenous alternative to pharmaceutical vasodilation. CO₂ is a powerful vasodilator which acts upon the endothelial cells of the microvasculature as an endothelial-dependent stimuli (25,26). As with other vasoactive stimuli, endothelial dysfunction results in an attenuated vasodilation and vasoconstriction response to varying CO₂ concentrations (101,102). Though some studies utilized inhaled CO₂ in lieu of pharmaceutical vasodilators, limitations such as limited patient compliance, adverse effects, and the need for specialized equipment have prevented the widespread adoption of this method (103,104). More recently, vasoactive breathing maneuvers consisting of a paced hyperventilation followed by a voluntary maximal breath hold have been validated as a suitable alternative to inhaled CO₂, and used in several patient populations (27–32).

Early work by Guensch and colleagues (2013, 2014) confirmed previously published experimental studies from the 1960's that CO₂ concentration regulates myocardial blood flow and thus imparts signal intensity variations on OS-CMR images (23,23). Breathing maneuvers in healthy subjects induce myocardial oxygenation changes monitored in vivo by OS-CMR (23) or in first-pass perfusion imaging (105). In hypocapnia caused by hyperventilation, the decreased concentration of CO₂ induces vasoconstriction and increased vascular resistance (22,23). With the oxygen consumption by the myocardium remaining constant, these conditions result in increased oxygen extraction and a relative increase in deoxyhemoglobin concentration, therefore decreasing OS-CMR signal intensity (22,23). The subsequent breath hold-induced hypercapnia induces vasodilation and decreases vascular resistance. This results in luxury perfusion in post-capillary venules, a relative decrease in deoxyhemoglobin, and an increased OS-CMR signal intensity (22). The parameter describing the tissue oxygenation response is denoted as B-MORE.

Fischer et al. (2015) showed that breathing maneuvers can be used safely and may show greater sensitivity to myocardial oxygenation changes than adenosine, while increasing subject comfort and reducing adverse effects (24). Later work observed that B-MORE sensitively detects areas inducible ischemia due to stenoses in animal models (32) and multivessel CAD patients (27), in addition to observing blunted microvascular function in patients with obstructive sleep apnea (28), heart failure (30,106), and after heart transplantation (31). Recently, a heterogeneous B-MORE response, without globally reduced oxygenation, has been observed in women with INOCA, likely reflecting underlying CMD (29). These results, considering previous work which found no global deficits in oxygenation during adenosine stress in INOCA patients (96) suggest that microvascular dysfunction manifests through regional, heterogeneous patterns over time rather than homogeneous deficit across the whole myocardium. While novel, OS-CMR using breathing maneuvers is a methodology that shows great promise in investigating microvascular dysfunction and inducible ischemia through B-MORE. However, as a novel methodology, it is not without limitations.

7. k. Limitations of OS-CMR

Despite its promise in assessing tissue oxygenation in several pathologies, several limitations to OS-CMR exist that limit its current implementations and must be addressed in future work.

Firstly, field strength must be considered. Implementation of OS-CMR at 1.5 Tesla (T) is limited due to the slight differences in signal that distinguish normal from deoxygenated myocardium (20). At 3T, the T2 signal is more sensitive to oxygenation, and the contrast between normal and deoxygenated myocardium is increased due to a higher signal to noise ratio at higher field strengths (68,80). However, the advantages due to higher field strength come at the cost of artifacts due to magnetic field inhomogeneities, requiring precise shimming

by the scanner operator (20). Other artifacts in OS-CMR may occur, such as in the inferolateral wall due to the great cardiac vein and the lung-heart interface, or due to stents in certain patients (20).

Physiological variables may also affect B-MORE. Hematocrit level has also been seen to significantly affect OS-CMR, both at baseline and during breathing maneuvers (107). As such, factors which are associated to varied hematocrit, such as subject hydration status (107) or exposure to high altitudes (108,109), may then impact the OS-CMR signal intensity and therefore B-MORE.

There are multiple variables which may affect microvascular function even in individuals considered healthy, which have yet to be assessed by OS-CMR. Sex, age, and body composition impart subclinical variations to vascular function which may contribute to CMD before the onset of clinically observable CAD (110–112). Understanding whether and if, how strongly these factors impact microvascular function in healthy individuals would allow to interpret blunted B-MORE with greater accuracy. Recent research has found that blunted signal intensity on OS-CMR images, during adenosine vasodilation, may act as an early tissue marker in individuals at risk of developing CAD, even without overt disease (21). A transmural gradient of vascular function was observed in individuals with hypertension, smoking history, dyslipidemia, diabetes mellitus, or a family history of CAD. The range of MORE results observed in the at-risk population was between the healthy population and those with diagnosed CAD (21). This supports the hypothesis that CMD is an early marker of cardiovascular risk and validates OS-CMR's sensitivity in detecting slight vascular function deficits. Though this study used adenosine vasodilation, past work has shown that breathing maneuvers are a validated alternative to pharmaceutical vasodilators with fewer adverse

effects, suggesting that a future study utilizing breathing maneuvers would show similar results (24). The impact of aging on B-MORE has also not yet been clearly defined. Preliminary work by Hillier (2019) found reduced B-MORE values in healthy aging (113). Aging is known to have a significant impact on cardiovascular health (114,115). The limited understanding of the effect of aging on B-MORE limits its use across different age groups.

Lastly, there are no standard reference values to denote B-MORE ranges in healthy volunteers or for any cardiovascular pathologies. Multi-site OS-CMR studies have yet to be performed. As such, B-MORE values can only be compared within the site they've been acquired from. It is yet unknown if site-specific scan procedures, or external factors impacting the population at the site, impact B-MORE. Reader bias may also affect calculations of B-MORE, as current publications include only manual segmentation and analysis of OS-CMR images.

7.1. Conclusions

Microvascular dysfunction has a significant impact on symptoms and prognosis of patients with cardiovascular disease, even in the absence of obstructive CAD. CMD may be indicative of the burden of vascular health risk factors, perceivable before the onset of macrovascular pathologies. OS-CMR provides a validated assessment of coronary vascular function, observing deficits in myocardial oxygenation in several cardiovascular pathologies, and in subjects with cardiovascular risk factors without CAD. In conjunction with standardized breathing maneuvers, OS-CMR is a sensitive, safe, and efficient measure of microvascular function. With no reference values established, further research is needed to understand B-MORE variations, due to environment, physiological parameters, or subject characteristics, and thus allow for a deeper understanding of how these factors contribute to CMD pathogenesis and progression.

7. m. Chapter 1 References

- Khan MA, Hashim MJ, Mustafa H, Baniyas MY, Al Suwaidi SKBM, AlKatheeri R, et al. Global Epidemiology of Ischemic Heart Disease: Results from the Global Burden of Disease Study. Cureus [Internet]. 2020 Jul 23 [cited 2022 Apr 26]; Available from: https://www.cureus.com/articles/36728-global-epidemiology-of-ischemic-heartdisease-results-from-the-global-burden-of-disease-study
- 2. Patel MR, Peterson ED, Dai D, Brennan JM, Redberg RF, Anderson HV, et al. Low diagnostic yield of elective coronary angiography. N Engl J Med. 2010 Mar 11;362(10):886–95.
- 3. Radico F, Zimarino M, Fulgenzi F, Ricci F, Di Nicola M, Jespersen L, et al. Determinants of long-term clinical outcomes in patients with angina but without obstructive coronary artery disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. European Heart Journal. 2018 Jun 14;39(23):2135–46.
- 4. Jespersen L, Hvelplund A, Abildstrøm SZ, Pedersen F, Galatius S, Madsen JK, et al. Stable angina pectoris with no obstructive coronary artery disease is associated with increased risks of major adverse cardiovascular events. Eur Heart J. 2012 Mar;33(6):734–44.
- 5. Taqueti VR, Di Carli MF. Coronary Microvascular Disease Pathogenic Mechanisms and Therapeutic Options. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2018 Nov;72(21):2625–41.
- 6. Del Buono MG, Montone RA, Camilli M, Carbone S, Narula J, Lavie CJ, et al. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction Across the Spectrum of Cardiovascular Diseases. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2021 Sep;78(13):1352–71.
- 7. Rubinshtein R, Yang EH, Rihal CS, Prasad A, Lennon RJ, Best PJ, et al. Coronary microcirculatory vasodilator function in relation to risk factors among patients without obstructive coronary disease and low to intermediate Framingham score. European Heart Journal. 2010 Apr 2;31(8):936–42.
- Taqueti VR, Shaw LJ, Cook NR, Murthy VL, Shah NR, Foster CR, et al. Excess Cardiovascular Risk in Women Relative to Men Referred for Coronary Angiography Is Associated With Severely Impaired Coronary Flow Reserve, Not Obstructive Disease. Circulation. 2017 Feb 7;135(6):566–77.
- 9. Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, Chamberlain AM, Chang AR, Cheng S, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2018 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2018 Mar 20;137(12):e67–492.
- Graham D. Vascular Physiology. In: Touyz RM, Delles C, editors. Textbook of Vascular Medicine [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2019 [cited 2022 Jan 10]. p. 13–22. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-030-16481-2_2
- 11. Guven G, Hilty MP, Ince C. Microcirculation: Physiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Application. Blood Purif. 2020;49(1–2):143–50.

- 12. Horton WB, Barrett EJ. Microvascular Dysfunction in Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiometabolic Disease. Endocr Rev. 2021 Jan 28;42(1):29–55.
- Crea F, Lanza GA, Camici PG. Methods to Assess Coronary Microvascular Function. In: Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction [Internet]. Milano: Springer Milan; 2014 [cited 2022 Mar 18]. p. 49–72. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-88-470-5367-0_3
- 14. Pfeiffer MP, Biederman RW. Cardiac MRI: A General Overview with Emphasis on Current Use and Indications. Med Clin North Am. 2015 Jul;99(4):849–61.
- 15. Ferreira VM, Piechnik SK, Robson MD, Neubauer S, Karamitsos TD. Myocardial Tissue Characterization by Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Novel Applications of T1 and T2 Mapping. Journal of Thoracic Imaging. 2014 May;29(3):147–54.
- Kotecha T, Martinez-Naharro A, Boldrini M, Knight D, Hawkins P, Kalra S, et al. Automated Pixel-Wise Quantitative Myocardial Perfusion Mapping by CMR to Detect Obstructive Coronary Artery Disease and Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Oct;12(10):1958–69.
- Larghat AM, Maredia N, Biglands J, Greenwood JP, Ball SG, Jerosch-Herold M, et al. Reproducibility of first-pass cardiovascular magnetic resonance myocardial perfusion. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2013 Apr;37(4):865–74.
- 18. Layne KA, Dargan PI, Archer JRH, Wood DM. Gadolinium deposition and the potential for toxicological sequelae A literature review of issues surrounding gadolinium-based contrast agents. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2018;84(11):2522–34.
- Wacker CM, Bock M, Hartlep AW, Beck G, van Kaick G, Ertl G, et al. Changes in myocardial oxygenation and perfusion under pharmacological stress with dipyridamole: assessment using T*2 and T1 measurements. Magn Reson Med. 1999 Apr;41(4):686–95.
- 20. Friedrich MG, Karamitsos TD. Oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Dec;15(1):43.
- 21. Luu JM, Schmidt A, Flewitt J, Mikami Y, ter Keurs H, Friedrich MG. Cardiovascular risk is associated with a transmural gradient of myocardial oxygenation during adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Nov 1;20(11):1287–95.
- Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Friedrich MG. Impact of Intermittent Apnea on Myocardial Tissue Oxygenation—A Study Using Oxygenation-Sensitive Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. Bauer WR, editor. PLoS ONE. 2013 Jan 3;8(1):e53282.
- 23. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Yu J, Lukic R, Friedrich JA, et al. Breathing manoeuvre-dependent changes in myocardial oxygenation in healthy humans. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2014 Apr 1;15(4):409–14.

- 24. Fischer K, Guensch DP, Friedrich MG. Response of myocardial oxygenation to breathing manoeuvres and adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2015 Apr 1;16(4):395–401.
- 25. Brian JE. Carbon Dioxide and the Cerebral Circulation. Anesthesiology. 1998 May 1;88(5):1365–86.
- 26. Crystal GJ. Carbon Dioxide and the Heart: Physiology and Clinical Implications. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2015 Sep;121(3):610–23.
- 27. Fischer K, Yamaji K, Luescher S, Ueki Y, Jung B, von Tengg-Kobligk H, et al. Feasibility of cardiovascular magnetic resonance to detect oxygenation deficits in patients with multi-vessel coronary artery disease triggered by breathing maneuvers. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2018 May 7;20(1):31.
- Roubille F, Fischer K, Guensch DP, Tardif JC, Friedrich MG. Impact of hyperventilation and apnea on myocardial oxygenation in patients with obstructive sleep apnea – An oxygenation-sensitive CMR study. Journal of Cardiology. 2017 Feb;69(2):489–94.
- 29. Elharram M, Hillier E, Hawkins S, Mikami Y, Heydari B, Merchant N, et al. Regional Heterogeneity in the Coronary Vascular Response in Women With Chest Pain and Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease. Circulation. 2021 Feb 16;143(7):764–6.
- Hillier E, Hafyane T, Friedrich MG. Myocardial and cerebral oxygenation deficits in heart failure patients - a multi-parametric study. European Heart Journal -Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Jun 1;20(Supplement_2):jez114.003.
- Iannino N, Fischer K, Friedrich M, Hafyane T, Mongeon FP, White M. Myocardial Vascular Function Assessed by Dynamic Oxygenation-sensitive Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging Long-term Following Cardiac Transplantation. Transplantation. 2021 Jun;105(6):1347–55.
- 32. Fischer K, Guensch DP, Shie N, Lebel J, Friedrich MG. Breathing Maneuvers as a Vasoactive Stimulus for Detecting Inducible Myocardial Ischemia – An Experimental Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Study. Bauer WR, editor. PLoS ONE. 2016 Oct 14;11(10):e0164524.
- 33. Pries AR, Badimon L, Bugiardini R, Camici PG, Dorobantu M, Duncker DJ, et al. Coronary vascular regulation, remodelling, and collateralization: mechanisms and clinical implications on behalf of the working group on coronary pathophysiology and microcirculation. Eur Heart J. 2015 Dec 1;36(45):3134–46.
- 34. Gutterman DD, Chabowski DS, Kadlec AO, Durand MJ, Freed JK, Ait-Aissa K, et al. The Human Microcirculation: Regulation of Flow and Beyond. Circ Res. 2016 Jan 8;118(1):157–72.
- 35. Climie RE, van Sloten TT, Bruno RM, Taddei S, Empana JP, Stehouwer CDA, et al. Macrovasculature and Microvasculature at the Crossroads Between Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension. Hypertension. 2019 Jun;73(6):1138–49.

- 36. Egashira K, Inou T, Hirooka Y, Yamada A, Maruoka Y, Kai H, et al. Impaired coronary blood flow response to acetylcholine in patients with coronary risk factors and proximal atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest. 1993 Jan;91(1):29–37.
- Di Carli MF, Charytan D, McMahon GT, Ganz P, Dorbala S, Schelbert HR. Coronary circulatory function in patients with the metabolic syndrome. J Nucl Med. 2011 Sep;52(9):1369–77.
- 38. Hamasaki S, Al Suwaidi J, Higano ST, Miyauchi K, Holmes DR, Lerman A. Attenuated coronary flow reserve and vascular remodeling in patients with hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000 May;35(6):1654–60.
- 39. Ong P, Athanasiadis A, Borgulya G, Mahrholdt H, Kaski JC, Sechtem U. High prevalence of a pathological response to acetylcholine testing in patients with stable angina pectoris and unobstructed coronary arteries. The ACOVA Study (Abnormal COronary VAsomotion in patients with stable angina and unobstructed coronary arteries). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012 Feb 14;59(7):655–62.
- 40. Shimokawa H. 2014 Williams Harvey Lecture: importance of coronary vasomotion abnormalities-from bench to bedside. Eur Heart J. 2014 Dec 1;35(45):3180–93.
- 41. Masi S, Rizzoni D, Taddei S, Widmer RJ, Montezano AC, Lüscher TF, et al. Assessment and pathophysiology of microvascular disease: recent progress and clinical implications. European Heart Journal. 2021 Jul 8;42(26):2590–604.
- 42. Magenta A, Greco S, Capogrossi MC, Gaetano C, Martelli F. Nitric oxide, oxidative stress, and p66Shc interplay in diabetic endothelial dysfunction. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:193095.
- 43. Kaski JC, Crea F, Gersh BJ, Camici PG. Reappraisal of Ischemic Heart Disease. Circulation. 2018 Oct 2;138(14):1463–80.
- 44. Camici PG, Crea F. Coronary microvascular dysfunction. N Engl J Med. 2007 Feb 22;356(8):830–40.
- 45. Camici PG, Tschöpe C, Di Carli MF, Rimoldi O, Van Linthout S. Coronary microvascular dysfunction in hypertrophy and heart failure. Cardiovasc Res. 2020 Mar 1;116(4):806–16.
- 46. Vancheri F, Longo G, Vancheri S, Henein M. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction. JCM. 2020 Sep 6;9(9):2880.
- 47. Murthy VL, Naya M, Taqueti VR, Foster CR, Gaber M, Hainer J, et al. Effects of sex on coronary microvascular dysfunction and cardiac outcomes. Circulation. 2014 Jun 17;129(24):2518–27.
- 48. Halcox JPJ, Schenke WH, Zalos G, Mincemoyer R, Prasad A, Waclawiw MA, et al. Prognostic value of coronary vascular endothelial dysfunction. Circulation. 2002 Aug 6;106(6):653–8.

- 49. van Kranenburg M, Magro M, Thiele H, de Waha S, Eitel I, Cochet A, et al. Prognostic value of microvascular obstruction and infarct size, as measured by CMR in STEMI patients. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014 Sep;7(9):930–9.
- 50. Grayburn PA. "Product safety" compromises patient safety (an unjustified black box warning on ultrasound contrast agents by the Food and Drug Administration). American Journal of Cardiology. 2008;101(6):892–3.
- 51. Feher A, Sinusas AJ. Quantitative Assessment of Coronary Microvascular Function: Dynamic Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography, Positron Emission Tomography, Ultrasound, Computed Tomography, and Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Circ: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2017 Aug;10(8):e006427.
- 52. Kaufmann PA, Camici PG. Myocardial blood flow measurement by PET: technical aspects and clinical applications. Journal of Nuclear Medicine. 2005;46(1):75–88.
- 53. Revett K. An Introduction to Magnetic Resonance Imaging: From Image Acquisition to Clinical Diagnosis. In: Kwaśnicka H, Jain LC, editors. Innovations in Intelligent Image Analysis [Internet]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2011 [cited 2022 Mar 19]. p. 127–61. (Kacprzyk J, editor. Studies in Computational Intelligence; vol. 339). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-17934-1_7
- 54. Boerma M, Sridharan V, Mao XW, Nelson GA, Cheema AK, Koturbash I, et al. Effects of ionizing radiation on the heart. Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research. 2016 Oct;770:319–27.
- Gallagher TA, Nemeth AJ, Hacein-Bey L. An Introduction to the Fourier Transform: Relationship to MRI. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2008 May;190(5):1396– 405.
- 56. Kim PK, Hong YJ, Im DJ, Suh YJ, Park CH, Kim JY, et al. Myocardial T1 and T2 mapping: techniques and clinical applications. Korean journal of radiology. 2017;18(1):113–31.
- Everett RJ, Stirrat CG, Semple SIR, Newby DE, Dweck MR, Mirsadraee S. Assessment of myocardial fibrosis with T1 mapping MRI. Clinical Radiology. 2016 Aug;71(8):768–78.
- 58. Serai SD. Basics of magnetic resonance imaging and quantitative parameters T1, T2, T2*, T1rho and diffusion-weighted imaging. Pediatr Radiol. 2022 Feb;52(2):217–27.
- 59. Kellman P, Hansen MS. T1-mapping in the heart: accuracy and precision. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2014 Dec;16(1):2.
- Thavendiranathan P, Walls M, Giri S, Verhaert D, Rajagopalan S, Moore S, et al. Improved Detection of Myocardial Involvement in Acute Inflammatory Cardiomyopathies Using T2 Mapping. Circ: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2012 Jan;5(1):102–10.
- 61. Wassmuth R, Prothmann M, Utz W, Dieringer M, von Knobelsdorff-Brenkenhoff F, Greiser A, et al. Variability and homogeneity of cardiovascular magnetic resonance
myocardial T2-mapping in volunteers compared to patients with edema. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Dec;15(1):27.

- 62. Bruder O, Wagner A, Lombardi M, Schwitter J, van Rossum A, Pilz G, et al. European Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance (EuroCMR) registry--multi national results from 57 centers in 15 countries. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Jan 18;15:9.
- 63. Thomson LEJ, Wei J, Agarwal M, Haft-Baradaran A, Shufelt C, Mehta PK, et al. Cardiac magnetic resonance myocardial perfusion reserve index is reduced in women with coronary microvascular dysfunction. A National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institutesponsored study from the Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015 Apr;8(4):e002481.
- 64. Patel A, Epstein F, Kramer C. Evaluation of the microcirculation: Advances in cardiac magnetic resonance perfusion imaging. Journal of Nuclear Cardiology. 2008 Sep;15(5):698–708.
- 65. Rosen BD, Lima JAC, Nasir K, Edvardsen T, Folsom AR, Lai S, et al. Lower Myocardial Perfusion Reserve Is Associated With Decreased Regional Left Ventricular Function in Asymptomatic Participants of the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2006 Jul 25;114(4):289–97.
- 66. Pauling L, Coryell CD. The Magnetic Properties and Structure of Hemoglobin, Oxyhemoglobin and Carbonmonoxyhemoglobin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1936 Apr;22(4):210–6.
- 67. Ogawa S, Tank DW, Menon R, Ellermann JM, Kim SG, Merkle H, et al. Intrinsic signal changes accompanying sensory stimulation: functional brain mapping with magnetic resonance imaging. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1992 Jul 1;89(13):5951–5.
- 68. Bauer WR, Nadler W, Bock M, Schad LR, Wacker C, Hartlep A, et al. The relationship between the BOLD-induced T2 and T2*: A theoretical approach for the vasculature of myocardium. Magn Reson Med. 1999 Dec;42(6):1004–10.
- 69. Li D, Dhawale P, Rubin PJ, Haacke EM, Gropler RJ. Myocardial signal response to dipyridamole and dobutamine: Demonstration of the BOLD effect using a double-echo gradient-echo sequence. Magn Reson Med. 1996 Jul;36(1):16–20.
- Atalay MK, Forder JR, Chacko VP, Kawamoto S, Zerhouni EA. Oxygenation in the rabbit myocardium: assessment with susceptibility-dependent MR imaging. Radiology. 1993 Dec;189(3):759–64.
- 71. Arnold JR, Karamitsos TD, Bhamra-Ariza P, Francis JM, Searle N, Robson MD, et al. Myocardial Oxygenation in Coronary Artery Disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2012 May;59(22):1954–64.
- 72. Karamitsos TD, Leccisotti L, Arnold JR, Recio-Mayoral A, Bhamra-Ariza P, Howells RK, et al. Relationship Between Regional Myocardial Oxygenation and Perfusion in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease: Insights From Cardiovascular Magnetic

Resonance and Positron Emission Tomography. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010 Jan;3(1):32–40.

- 73. Manka R, Paetsch I, Schnackenburg B, Gebker R, Fleck E, Jahnke C. BOLD cardiovascular magnetic resonance at 3.0 tesla in myocardial ischemia. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2010 Dec;12(1):54.
- 74. Wendland MF, Saeed M, Lauerma K, De Crespigny A, Moseley ME, Higgins CB. Endogenous susceptibility contrast in myocardium during apnea measured using gradient recalled echo planar imaging. Magn Reson Med. 1993 Feb;29(2):273–6.
- 75. Niemi P, Poncelet BP, Kwong KK, Weisskoff RM, Rosen BR, Brady TJ, et al. Myocardial intensity changes associated with flow stimulation in blood oxygenation sensitive magnetic resonance imaging. Magn Reson Med. 1996 Jul;36(1):78–82.
- 76. Fieno DS, Shea SM, Li Y, Harris KR, Finn JP, Li D. Myocardial Perfusion Imaging Based on the Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent Effect Using T₂-Prepared Steady-State Free-Precession Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Circulation. 2004 Sep 7;110(10):1284– 90.
- 77. Wacker CM, Hartlep AW, Pfleger S, Schad LR, Ertl G, Bauer WR. Susceptibilitysensitive magnetic resonance imaging detects human myocardium supplied by a stenotic coronary artery without a contrast agent. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2003 Mar;41(5):834–40.
- 78. Friedrich MG, Niendorf T, Schulz-Menger J, Gross CM, Dietz R. Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Patients with Stress-Induced Angina. Circulation. 2003 Nov 4;108(18):2219–23.
- 79. Dharmakumar R, Hong J, Brittain JH, Plewes DB, Wright GA. Oxygen-sensitive contrast in blood for steady-state free precession imaging. Magn Reson Med. 2005 Mar;53(3):574–83.
- 80. Dharmakumar R, Arumana JM, Tang R, Harris K, Zhang Z, Li D. Assessment of regional myocardial oxygenation changes in the presence of coronary artery stenosis with balanced SSFP imaging at 3.0T: Theory and experimental evaluation in canines. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2008 May;27(5):1037–45.
- Tsaftaris SA, Tang R, Zhou X, Li D, Dharmakumar R. Ischemic extent as a biomarker for characterizing severity of coronary artery stenosis with blood oxygen-sensitive MRI. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2012 Jun;35(6):1338–48.
- 82. Yang HJ, Oksuz I, Dey D, Sykes J, Klein M, Butler J, et al. Accurate needle-free assessment of myocardial oxygenation for ischemic heart disease in canines using magnetic resonance imaging. Sci Transl Med. 2019 May 29;11(494):eaat4407.
- 83. Bernhardt P, Manzke R, Bornstedt A, Gradinger R, Spieß J, Walcher D, et al. Blood oxygen level-dependent magnetic resonance imaging using T2-prepared steady-state free-precession imaging in comparison to contrast-enhanced myocardial perfusion imaging. International Journal of Cardiology. 2011 Mar;147(3):416–9.

- Jahnke C, Gebker R, Manka R, Schnackenburg B, Fleck E, Paetsch I. Navigator-Gated 3D Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent CMR at 3.0-T for Detection of Stress-Induced Myocardial Ischemic Reactions. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2010 Apr;3(4):375– 84.
- 85. Walcher T, Manzke R, Hombach V, Rottbauer W, Wöhrle J, Bernhardt P. Myocardial Perfusion Reserve Assessed by T2-Prepared Steady-State Free Precession Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Comparison to Fractional Flow Reserve. Circ: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2012 Sep;5(5):580–6.
- 86. Luu JM, Friedrich MG, Harker J, Dwyer N, Guensch D, Mikami Y, et al. Relationship of vasodilator-induced changes in myocardial oxygenation with the severity of coronary artery stenosis: a study using oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. European Heart Journal - Cardiovascular Imaging. 2014 Dec 1;15(12):1358–67.
- 87. Karamitsos TD, Dass S, Suttie J, Sever E, Birks J, Holloway CJ, et al. Blunted Myocardial Oxygenation Response During Vasodilator Stress in Patients With Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013 Mar;61(11):1169–76.
- 88. Grover S, Lloyd R, Perry R, Lou PW, Haan E, Yeates L, et al. Assessment of myocardial oxygenation, strain, and diastology in MYBPC3-related hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance and echocardiography study. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Aug 1;20(8):932–8.
- 89. Parnham SF, Gleadle JM, Leong D, Grover S, Perry R, Bradbrook C, et al. Myocardial oxygenation is impaired in advanced chronic kidney disease and renal transplant patients. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2015 Dec;17(S1):P116, 1532-429X-17-S1-P116.
- 90. Parnham S, Gleadle JM, Bangalore S, Grover S, Perry R, Woodman RJ, et al. Impaired Myocardial Oxygenation Response to Stress in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease. JAHA. 2015 Aug 25;4(8):e002249.
- 91. Luu J, Schmidt A, Flewitt J, Howarth AG, Friedrich MG. Transmural variations of vasodilator-induced changes of myocardial oxygenation vary with age and the presence of diabetes mellitus type II: a study using oxygen-sensitive cardiovascular MR. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Jan;15(S1):P132, 1532-429X-15-S1-P132.
- 92. Sree Raman K, Stokes M, Walls A, Perry R, Steele PM, Burdeniuk C, et al. Feasibility of oxygen sensitive cardiac magnetic resonance of the right ventricle in pulmonary artery hypertension. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2019 Oct;9(5):502–12.
- 93. Chen BH, Shi RY, An DA, Wu R, Wu CW, Hu J, et al. BOLD cardiac MRI for differentiating reversible and irreversible myocardial damage in ST segment elevation myocardial infarction. Eur Radiol. 2019 Feb;29(2):951–62.
- 94. Nagao M, Yamasaki Y, Kawanami S, Kamitani T, Sagiyama K, Higo T, et al. Quantification of myocardial oxygenation in heart failure using blood-oxygen-leveldependent T2* magnetic resonance imaging: Comparison with cardiopulmonary exercise test. Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2017 Jun;39:138–43.

- 95. Egred M. Detection of scarred and viable myocardium using a new magnetic resonance imaging technique: blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) MRI. Heart. 2003 Jul 1;89(7):738–44.
- 96. Karamitsos TD, Arnold JR, Pegg TJ, Francis JM, Birks J, Jerosch-Herold M, et al. Patients With Syndrome X Have Normal Transmural Myocardial Perfusion and Oxygenation: A 3-T Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012 Mar;5(2):194–200.
- 97. Ikeda U. Adenosine stimulates nitric oxide synthesis in vascular smooth muscle cells. Cardiovascular Research. 1997 Jul;35(1):168–74.
- 98. Chen K, Pittman RN, Popel AS. Nitric Oxide in the Vasculature: Where Does It Come From and Where Does It Go? A Quantitative Perspective. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling. 2008 Jul;10(7):1185–98.
- 99. Voigtlander T, Schmermund A, Bramlage P, Elsasser A, Magedanz A, Kauczor HU, et al. The adverse events and hemodynamic effects of adenosine-based cardiac MRI. Korean J Radiol. 2011 Aug;12(4):424–30.
- 100. Department of Radiology and Imaging, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Jordan, Hong Kong, Tsang K, Chan WS, Shiu C, Chan M. The safety and tolerability of adenosine as a pharmacological stressor in stress perfusion cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in the Chinese population. Hong Kong Med J [Internet]. 2015 Aug 14 [cited 2022 Mar 22]; Available from: http://www.hkmj.org/abstracts/v21n6/524.htm
- 101. Lavi S, Gaitini D, Milloul V, Jacob G. Impaired cerebral CO₂ vasoreactivity: association with endothelial dysfunction. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2006 Oct;291(4):H1856–61.
- Claassen JAHR, Thijssen DHJ, Panerai RB, Faraci FM. Regulation of cerebral blood flow in humans: physiology and clinical implications of autoregulation. Physiological Reviews. 2021 Oct 1;101(4):1487–559.
- 103. Spano VR, Mandell DM, Poublanc J, Sam K, Battisti-Charbonney A, Pucci O, et al. CO 2 Blood Oxygen Level-dependent MR Mapping of Cerebrovascular Reserve in a Clinical Population: Safety, Tolerability, and Technical Feasibility. Radiology. 2013 Feb;266(2):592–8.
- 104. Moreton FC, Dani KA, Goutcher C, O'Hare K, Muir KW. Respiratory challenge MRI: Practical aspects. NeuroImage: Clinical. 2016;11:667–77.
- 105. Teixeira T, Nadeshalingam G, Fischer K, Marcotte F, Friedrich MG. Breathing maneuvers as a coronary vasodilator for myocardial perfusion imaging: Breathing Maneuvers for Cardiac Perfusion Imaging. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2016 Oct;44(4):947–55.
- 106. Fischer K, Guensch DP, Jung B, King I, von Tengg-Kobligk H, Giannetti N, et al. Insights Into Myocardial Oxygenation and Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Tissue Biomarkers in Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction. Circ: Heart Failure

[Internet]. 2022 Apr [cited 2022 Apr 25];15(4). Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.121.008903

- Guensch DP, Nadeshalingam G, Fischer K, Stalder AF, Friedrich MG. The impact of hematocrit on oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2016 Jul 20;18(1):42.
- 108. Akunov A, Sydykov A, Toktash T, Doolotova A, Sarybaev A. Hemoglobin Changes After Long-Term Intermittent Work at High Altitude. Front Physiol. 2018 Nov 1;9:1552.
- 109. León-Velarde F, Gamboa A, Chuquiza JA, Esteba WA, Rivera-Chira M, Monge C. C. Hematological Parameters in High Altitude Residents Living at 4355, 4660, and 5500 Meters Above Sea Level. High Altitude Medicine & Biology. 2000 Jun;1(2):97–104.
- 110. Wu C, Zhang K, Odden MC, Kucharska-Newton AM, Palta P, Matsushita K, et al. Subclinical Vascular Disease Burden and Premature Mortality Among Middle-aged Adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. J GEN INTERN MED. 2021 Jul;36(7):2048–54.
- 111. Snelder SM, Groot-de Laat LE, Biter LU, Castro Cabezas M, Pouw N, Birnie E, et al. Subclinical cardiac dysfunction in obesity patients is linked to autonomic dysfunction: findings from the CARDIOBESE study. ESC Heart Failure. 2020 Dec;7(6):3726–37.
- 112. Cortés YI, Catov JM, Brooks M, El Khoudary SR, Thurston RC, Matthews KA, et al. Pregnancy-related events associated with subclinical cardiovascular disease burden in late midlife: SWAN. Atherosclerosis. 2019 Oct;289:27–35.
- 113. Hillier E, Hawkins S, Friedrich M. HEALTHY AGING REDUCES THE MYOCARDIAL OXYGENATION RESERVE AS ASSESSED WITH OXYGENATION SENSITIVE CMR. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2019 Oct;35(10):S81.
- 114. Harvey A, Montezano AC, Touyz RM. Vascular biology of ageing—Implications in hypertension. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 2015 Jun;83:112–21.
- 115. Paneni F, Diaz Cañestro C, Libby P, Lüscher TF, Camici GG. The Aging Cardiovascular System. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2017 Apr;69(15):1952–67.

8. Chapter 2: Original Research Manuscript

8. A. FOREWORD	42
8. B. ORIGINAL RESEARCH MANUSCRIPT	43
ABSTRACT	43
INTRODUCTION	45
METHODS	46
RESULTS	50
DISCUSSION	54
CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	57
TABLES AND FIGURES	59
8. C. CHAPTER 2 REFERENCES	67

8. a. Foreword

OS-CMR is a validated non-invasive methodology to investigate tissue oxygenation status in several cardiovascular pathologies, such as coronary artery disease. In conjunction with vasoactive breathing maneuvers, this methodology offers a non-invasive assessment of vascular function without gadolinium-based contrast agents or pharmaceutical vasodilators. A previous study utilizing OS-CMR identified a transmural gradient of blunted vascular function during adenosine infusion in subjects with cardiometabolic risk factors without overt coronary artery disease, underscoring the notion that vascular dysfunction may accompany risk factors even before the development of coronary artery stenosis. Though this study utilized pharmaceutical vasodilation, a novel study utilizing OS-CMR with vasoactive breathing maneuvers may likely reveal similar deficits in vascular function, due to the endothelial-dependent mechanism of breathing maneuvers. Modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors, such as age, sex, and body composition, impact vascular health and can progressively induce endothelial dysfunction. However, the relationship of such factors with vascular function in otherwise healthy individuals (without risk factors) remains unclear. The following chapter aims to shed light on that relationship, applying breathing-enhanced OS-CMR in a cohort of individuals considered healthy. The results of this study could provide a deeper understanding of vascular function in the general healthy population and its potential as an early marker for cardiovascular risk.

8. b. Original Research Manuscript

Breathing Induced Myocardial Oxygenation REserve and vascular function in the general HEALTHY population (BMORE-HEALTHY)

<u>Abstract</u>

Introduction: Non-modifiable factors like age and sex, along with factors like body composition, impact vascular health. In otherwise healthy individuals, the impact of these factors on the microvasculature is unclear. Oxygenation-Sensitive Cardiac Magnetic Resonance (OS-CMR) is a validated methodology to examine vascular function using the quantitative marker breathing-induced myocardial oxygenation reserve (B-MORE). Previous research has observed a transmural gradient with a blunted B-MORE, reflecting vascular dysfunction, in subjects with vascular risk factors but no overt cardiovascular disease (CVD). The aim of this study was to assess the impact of demographic factors on vascular function as defined by the response of myocardial oxygenation to a standardized breathing maneuver. We hypothesized that demographic factors have a demonstrable relationship with microvascular function as assessed by B-MORE.

Methods: We retrospectively assessed B-MORE in 80 healthy adults from 4 prospective OS-CMR studies, performed in Montreal, Canada. Independent T-tests were used to assess for statistically significant differences in microvascular function between the sexes. B-MORE was analyzed in the entire myocardium as well as regionally, in the subendocardial and subepicardial myocardial layers and myocardial coronary territories. ANOVA was used to assess for differences in B-MORE between age and CVD risk groups, and between myocardial layers. Linear regression was used to view the relationship of individual factors with B-MORE. A principal component regression analysis was used to assess the differential

impact of all factors (age, sex, height, weight, heart rate, blood pressure, BMI, BSA, Framingham's risk score) on B-MORE.

Results: Globally, male subjects showed a greater mean B-MORE (7.8 (CI 6.2-9.3)) compared to female subjects (6.0 (CI 4.9-7.2)), though this difference was statistically not significant. Global B-MORE did also not differ significantly between age groups or CVD risk groups. Subject height significantly impacted B-MORE analysis (R²=0.09, p=0.009). Age, height, BSA, sex, and CVD risk each had an independent correlation with B-MORE (p=0.008, 0.001, 0.025, 0.006, 0.035, respectively), explaining 14% of its variation $(R^2=0.14)$. B-MORE was homogeneous across the myocardial layers. Regionally, several factors impacted B-MORE in the sub-endocardium and sub-epicardium, with height significantly impacting B-MORE in univariable analysis, and age and height significantly impacting B-MORE in multivariable analysis, among others which varied by myocardial layer. In all coronary territories, male subjects showed a significantly higher mean B-MORE compared to female subjects (p=0.008, p=0.02, p=0.008), and in the LAD territory, B-MORE significantly decreased in older age groups (p=0.04). Sex and height were significantly correlated with B-MORE in all territories, amongst others which varied by territory. Furthermore, age, height, and BSA showed significant correlations with B-MORE in all coronary territories, while others which varied by territory.

Conclusions: In a healthy population, sex, age, and body composition, are related with vasculature function. Female sex may be associated to a lower B-MORE. Further research is needed to clarify the impact of confounders not captured in this study.

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide (1). Recognizing of cardiovascular risk is key in preventing the development of CVD and in reducing disease burden (2,3). Non-modifiable factors like age and sex, and difficult-to-modify factors like body composition, impact vascular health. Alongside environmental, socioeconomic, and genetic risk factors, these characteristics are used to predict the risk of overt CVD and future cardiovascular events, often through clinical risk calculators, such as the Framingham risk score (4–6). These characteristics may also impact the vasculature sub-clinically, before the onset of overt clinical cardiac disease (7–9).

In otherwise healthy individuals, the relative contribution of these factors in driving vascular dysfunction is unclear. Aging progressively induces vascular dysfunction. Over the lifetime, vascular remodeling results in increased vessel stiffness, inflammation, calcification, and increased likelihood of ischemia (10,11). Vascular differences also manifest between sexes through female sex-specific factors, such as menopause, resulting in a distinct pathophysiology for microvascular disorders in women (8,12–16). In both sexes, body composition impacts the vasculature due to excess adipose tissue. Functioning as an endocrine organ, excess adipose tissue promotes vascular dysfunction through production of pro-inflammatory compounds acting on the endothelium, and secretion of hormones contributing to nutrition, insulin processing, and inflammatory pathways (17,18).

Oxygenation-sensitive cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (OS-CMR) has recently emerged as a fast, non-invasive technique to assess vascular function, which avoids the use of intravenous exogeneous contrast and pharmaceutical vasodilatory agents (19). OS-CMR utilizes the blood oxygenation level dependent (BOLD) effect to directly assess myocardial

oxygenation changes (20). Recent work has shown that vascular function assessed with OS-CMR is blunted in subjects with coronary artery disease, as well as those with vascular risk factors (21). This illustrates the significant effects of risk factors on vascular function, even in subclinical disease states. Guensch and colleagues (2013, 2014) showed that OS-CMR can visualize the known impact of carbon dioxide (CO₂) on myocardial blood flow (22–24). Specifically, the drop of blood CO₂ during hyperventilation leads to increased vascular resistance and induces vasoconstriction. A subsequent breath hold induces an increase of CO₂, lowering vascular resistance, i.e., leading to vasodilation. Vasoactive breathing maneuvers consisting of paced hyperventilation followed by a voluntary maximal breath hold have been validated as a suitable alternative to pharmaceutical vasodilation in a number of patient populations, resulting in myocardial oxygenation changes visible with OS-CMR (20,25–29).

Age, sex, and body composition may result in subclinical alterations to vascular function, even in individuals with no history of cardiac disease, attenuating the myocardial oxygenation response to breathing maneuvers visible with OS-CMR. The aim of this study is to investigate the relationship of risk factors with vascular function as defined by the response of myocardial oxygenation to breathing maneuvers.

<u>Methods</u>

Study Design

This was a retrospective, cross-sectional cohort study.

OS-CMR parameters were retrospectively obtained from study data at the McGill University Health Centre (MUHC) in Montreal, Canada. Study data came from prospective studies

approved by the appropriate local ethics boards: B-MORE (2016-2428, 2019-4137), B-CORE (2017-3002), HAPI-FIT (MP-21-2018-1760), SYNDX (2019-4635).

Participants

Healthy volunteer inclusion criteria for the studies included subject age above 18, informed consent, no history of cardiac or pulmonary conditions, no tobacco consumption, body mass index (BMI) below 30, and no consumption of medications affecting the cardiac or pulmonary system. Exclusion criteria were known contraindications to CMR, such as implantable electronic devices and metallic foreign bodies (30). Data was accessed retrospectively from subjects with acceptable image quality recruited as healthy volunteers in their respective studies, with whom informed consent for secondary use of their data was given.

Clinical Variables

Data accessed included global and segmental signal intensity values during breath hold, as well as demographic characteristics from study records (BMI, body size analysis (BSA), weight, height, heart rate, blood pressure, age, and sex), recorded at the time of the OS-CMR scan.

CMR Protocol

MRI scans were performed on a clinical 3 Tesla MAGNETOM Skyra (Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany). Subjects were instructed to fast the morning of the scan and avoid caffeine for 12 hours before the scan. Subjects practiced the breathing maneuvers before the scan and performed the maneuvers according to recorded audio instructions.

OS-CMR images were acquired during the breathing maneuvers in one basal and one midventricular short-axis slice. The breathing maneuver protocol consisted of a baseline cine acquisition, a 60-second period of metronome-paced hyperventilation, and a voluntary maximal breath-hold throughout which OS-CMR images were continuously acquired. The OS-CMR sequence and parameters have been previously described in detail (24,28,31).



CMR Image Blinding & Analysis

Figure 1: To view dynamic myocardial oxygenation changes, change in Breathing Induced Myocardial-Oxygenation Reserve (B-MORE) was calculated as the percentage difference (Δ) in signal intensity (B-MORE Δ SI%) between the signal intensity of the first post-hyperventilation end-systolic image (at end vasoconstriction due to hypocapnia), and the signal intensity of the end-systolic image closest to 30 seconds into the breath hold, (during vasodilation due to hypercapnia). Figure created by Katherine Lindsay with Biorender.com (32)

CMR images were anonymized using a primary code, then given a secondary code to blind the participant's identity. An experienced CMR reader, EH, then quantitatively analyzed all images using cvi42[™] (Circle Cardiovascular Imaging, Calgary, Canada), manually contouring the epicardial and endocardial borders as per clinical standards (28). OS-CMR data were reported as global and segmental values in accordance with the American Heart Association's standardized myocardial segmentation model (33). Assessments of global and regional breathing induced myocardial oxygenation reserve (B-MORE) were determined from the first post-hyperventilation end-systolic image, and the end-systolic image closest to 30 seconds of the breath-hold were used for statistical analysis (Figure 1). Changes in B-MORE were therefore expressed as the percentage difference in signal intensity (B-MORE Δ SI%) between the first post-hyperventilation end-systolic image, and the end-systolic image closest to 30 seconds into the breath hold (Figure 1).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 9.0.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA, www.graphpad.com). BMI and BSA, using the Mosteller formula, were calculated from patient height and weight (34). Full 30-year CVD-risk was calculated for each participant using the Framingham Risk Score (6). B-MORE Δ SI% values for each participant were grouped by sex, age (>36, 36-55, 55<), and CVD-risk (>10, 10-20, 21-31, 31<%). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests were performed to compare mean B-MORE Δ SI% between the age and CVD-risk groups, respectively. A t-test was performed to compare mean B-MORE Δ SI% between male and female participants. Unadjusted analysis was performed using univariable linear regression analysis for all variables (age, sex, CVD-risk, height, weight, BMI, BSA, heart rate, and blood pressure). Adjusted, multivariable analysis was performed using principal component analysis (PCA) and principal component regression (PCR), including all demographic variables as independent variables. B-MORE Δ SI% was the dependent variable for the regression analyses. The same statistical tests were performed on segmental and global B-MORE Δ SI% values. To determine intraobserver variability, intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) analysis was performed in Excel (version 16.5, 2021) on a subgroup of 21 subject images analyzed twice by EH, an experienced CMR reader. To determine interobserver

variability, intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) analysis was performed in Excel (version 16.5, 2021) on a subgroup of 16 subject analyzed images analyzed both by EH and a second experienced CMR reader.

<u>Results</u>

Study population

The baseline characteristics of all analyzed subjects are summarized in Table 1. Data from 80 subjects were included. All subjects completed the study protocol and tolerated the breathing maneuver well. The study population had a mean age of 40.6 (95% confidence interval (CI) 37.1, 44.12). The population was largely female (61%) with a mean CVD 30-year risk score (%) of 18.3% (CI 14.8-21.7) and mean BMI of 24.8 (CI 24.1-25.4).

Intra and Interobserver variability

The intraobserver variability of B-MORE (Δ SI%) measurements was small. Assessed on a subgroup of 21 subject images read twice by EH, the ICC was 0.96, indicating excellent intra-observer reliability (35). The interobserver variability was also small, as assessed on a subgroup of 16 subject images read by two readers. For all slices, ICC results were above 0.8, and for global values, the ICC was above 0.9, indicating good and excellent reliability between readers, respectively (35).

A. Global Myocardial Oxygenation Changes

The overall mean Δ SI% over the breath hold (B-MORE) was 6.7 (CI 5.8-7.6). Mean B-MORE did not differ significantly between CVD risk groups. Though not statistically significant in ANOVA analysis, a decrease in mean B-MORE was observed across age groups (Figure 2, Table 2). Male subjects showed a greater mean B-MORE (7.8 (CI 6.2-9.3) compared to females (6.0 (CI 4.9-7.2)) though this was not statistically significant in a t-test

(p>0.05). Height significantly impacted B-MORE in unadjusted analysis (R²=0.09, p=0.009) (Figure 3). For each centimeter of height, B-MORE Δ SI% increased by 0.12 in this univariable model (Figure 3, Table 3). Age, sex, BSA, height, and CVD risk significantly impacted B-MORE Δ SI% (Table 3). This multivariable model explained 14% of variance in B-MORE Δ SI% (R2=0.14). For each year of age, the model showed B-MORE Δ SI% decreased by 0.03. Female sex decreased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.77 in this model. For each unit of BSA, the model showed B-MORE Δ SI% increased by 1.35. For each cm of height, the model showed B-MORE Δ SI% increased by 0.04. For each percentage increase in CVD risk, the model showed B-MORE decreased by 0.02 (Table 3).

B. Regional Myocardial Oxygenation Changes

i. <u>Myocardial oxygenation changes in the myocardial layers</u>

B-MORE was homogeneous across the myocardial layers, with no significant difference in mean B-MORE in the sub-endocardium compared to the sub-epicardium. Mean B-MORE did not differ significantly between age groups, CVD risk groups, or between the sexes, in either the sub-endocardium or the sub-epicardium. In unadjusted analysis, height significantly impacted B-MORE in both layers, with B-MORE Δ SI% increasing by 0.12 for each centimeter increase of height in the epicardium (p=0.02, R²=0.07), and 0.13 in the endocardium (p=0.02, R²=0.08) (Table 4).

In the sub-endocardium, sex, age, and height were significantly distinct (p<0.05), with the model explaining 7.6% of variation of B-MORE Δ SI% (R²= 0.076). In the sub-epicardial layer, age, height, and CVD risk were significant (p<0.05) with the model explaining 8% of variation of B-MORE Δ SI% (R2=0.08) (Table 4). The endocardial multivariable model

showed that female sex decreased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.68, each year of age decreased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.03, and each centimeter of height increased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.04 (Table 4). In the epicardial layer, each year of age was associated with a drop of B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.03, while each centimeter of height increased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.04. Moreover, one percent increase of CVD risk decreased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.02 (Table 4).

ii. Myocardial oxygenation changes in coronary territories

Several demographic variables impacted B-MORE Δ SI% in specific coronary territories. Mean B-MORE Δ SI% differed significantly (p<0.05) between age groups in the LAD territory, decreased with increasing age (p=0.04), and was significantly greater in male subjects compared to female subjects in the RCA, LAD, and LCX, respectively (p=0.008, p=0.02, p=0.008) (Figure 5, Figure 6). In unadjusted analyses, sex and height significantly impacted B-MORE Δ SI% in all territories, amongst others which varied by territory (Table 5). In unadjusted analyses of the RCA, B-MORE Δ SI was 3.62% lower in women, each centimeter of height increased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.25, and each unit of BSA increased B-MORE Δ SI% by 7.91, respectively ($R^2=0.09, 0.18, 0.07$). In the LAD territory, B-MORE Δ SI was 2.63% lower in women, each year of age decreased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.08, each centimeter of height increased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.13, and each percentage increase of CVD Risk decreased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.08, respectively (R2=0.07, 0.07, 0.08, 0.06). In the LCX, B-MORE ΔSI was 2.43% lower in women, each centimeter of height increased B-MORE Δ SI% by 0.15, and each unit of BSA increased B-MORE Δ SI% by 4.98, respectively (R2=0.09, 0.15, 0.06).

Age, height, and BSA significantly impacted B-MORE Δ SI% in all territories, amongst others which varied by territory (Table 5). In the RCA, the multivariable model explained 22% of variation in BMORE Δ SI% (R²=0.22), In the RCA model, BMORE Δ SI% was 1.61% lower in women, each year in age decreased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.06, each centimeter in height increased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.08, each percentage increase of CVD risk decreased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.03, each beat per minute increase of heart rate increased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.07, each unit of BMI decreased BMORE Δ SI % by 0.15, and each unit of BSA increased BMORE Δ SI% by 2.09. (Table 5)

In the LCX, the multivariable model explained 15% of variation in BMORE Δ SI% (R²=0.15). In this model, BMORE Δ SI% was 0.89% lower in women, each year in age decreased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.03, each centimeter in height increased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.04, and each unit of BSA increased BMORE Δ SI% by 1.2. (Table 5)

In the LAD, the multivariable model explained 15% of variation in BMORE Δ SI% (R²= 0.15). In this multivariable model, each year in age decreased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.04, each centimeter in height increased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.05, each unit of BSA increased BMORE Δ SI% by 1.66, and each percentage increase of CVD risk decreased BMORE Δ SI% by 0.03. (Table 5)

Discussion

Our results from four prospective studies show numerous correlations of known modifiers of cardiovascular risk such age, sex, and body composition with vascular function as measured with breathing-enhanced OS-CMR. This approach may therefore allow to identify an increased risk in apparently healthy subjects.

To our knowledge, this was the first study of its kind. While previous animal and clinical studies have used OS-CMR to observe blunted vascular function in subjects with coronary artery disease and cardiovascular risk factors, and recent work has suggested that a blunted B-MORE is associated to microvascular pathologies, this was the first OS-CMR study with vasoactive breathing maneuvers to investigate variation in vascular function within a healthy cohort.

Impact of age on myocardial oxygenation response

In adjusted, multivariable analysis, age significantly reduced global and regional B-MORE Δ SI%. These findings agree with previous work observing decreased mean B-MORE across healthy aging (36). Aging induces structural modifications in the heart, manifesting through cardiomyocyte apoptosis, myocardial and vascular stiffening, and hypertrophy (4). Coronary microvascular function is also known to decline with aging. Research suggests that oxidative stress, increased over the lifetime, induces changes to arterioles which impacts vasoactive function of coronary vessels (37). Our findings are consistent with these reports by showing an age dependence of B-MORE as a marker for vascular function. Overall, this also indicates the need for age-specific B-MORE reference values acquired from a truly healthy cohort.

Impact of sex on myocardial oxygenation response

Male subjects demonstrated a higher mean B-MORE ΔSI% compared to female subjects, globally and in regional subsets. While the mean age of study subjects was 40.6, the majority of female subjects were aged 50 years or older, suggesting some female subjects may have been post-menopausal, as the Canadian median age at natural menopause is estimated at 51 (38), while most male subjects were below 50 years of age. Further, the results of the adjusted multivariable analyses, globally, in the sub-endocardial layer, and the RCA and LCX coronary territories, respectively, revealed that sex impacted B-MORE independent of other factors. In post-menopausal women, current literature suggests a significant association between estrogen and microvascular pathologies like coronary microvascular dysfunction (CMD) (39). As such, the vascular function deficit we observed in females may have occurred due to the unique effects of post-menopausal estrogen circulation. Our findings suggest that sex remains significant in modulating vascular function, even in those considered healthy, and that sex-specific reference values are necessary in future studies of B-MORE, notably if the cohort studied includes post-menopausal subjects.

Impact of body composition on myocardial oxygenation response

BSA significantly impacted myocardial oxygenation, increasing myocardial oxygenation response with increasing body composition values. Excess body fat is a known CVD risk factor which may affect cardiac structure and function (5). Namely, excess adipocytes contribute to vascular dysfunction pathogenesis through endocrine and pro-inflammatory pathways (17,18). All included subjects had a BMI < 30, so it is possible that their body fat did not have a significant impact on their vascular function. Notably, BMI and BSA are limited in defining body fat distribution, such as excess visceral adipose tissue, a known marker for adverse cardiometabolic outcomes and CVD (40,41). Some literature suggests that waist circumference or waist-to-height ratio should be used in conjunction with, or instead of

BMI or BSA (42,43). Waist circumference was not assessed in this study. A further study of microvascular function comparing multiple metrics of body composition is suggested, to further investigate its impact in healthy individuals, and confirm if B-MORE should be indexed to body composition.

Impact of height on myocardial oxygenation response

Increasing height was associated to increasing B-MORE, across all analyses. These findings support previous research suggesting that a taller stature reduces cardiovascular risk. A recent meta-analysis by Yano found that short stature is associated with a risk of CV morbidity and mortality 1.5 times greater than taller individuals (44).

Related work found that short stature is also associated with a blunted vasodilatory capacity, possibly due to decreased endothelial repair potential in the vasculature (45,46). Short stature can be interpreted as a representation of multiple factors acting on the cardiovascular system, including as poor nutrition, environmental factors, and genetics (47,48). As such, it is likely our findings simply reflect the high sensitivity of B-MORE to identify even mild vascular dysfunction resulting from a variety of factors, even in subjects considered healthy, and may not be an effect due to subject height itself. To determine if indexing B-MORE to height is necessary, future work should investigate if the impact of height on B-MORE is independent of determinants of height, which affect the cardiovascular system.

Myocardial oxygenation in myocardial layers

The sub-endocardium and sub-epicardium were homogeneous and did not show significantly different B-MORE responses. This agrees with previous observations of a homogenous myocardial oxygenation response to pharmacologic vasodilation across the myocardial layers in healthy subjects, unlike subjects with cardiovascular risk factors who showed a transmural

gradient (21). Further research should investigate if the transmural gradient previously observed in those with cardiovascular risk factors would be replicated using endothelialdependent breathing maneuvers rather than endothelial-independent adenosine. Across the coronary territories, however, not all results were homogeneous. Notably, in an independent ANOVA analysis, only the LAD territory showed a significantly lower B-MORE in older age groups, despite all territories being equally exposed to age. These results suggest that microvascular function in the LAD territory may be the first indicator of the impact of healthy aging, before a significant effect is observed globally or in other territories. However, further research with a larger cohort is needed to establish this.

Limitations

This study has a number of limitations. Risk factors were self-reported, so unknown risk factors amongst the cohorts may be possible. Further, not all possible risk factors were included in this analysis, which may have contributed to the remaining BMORE Δ SI% variation unexplained by factors in this study. A number of additional factors may have been impacting the vasculature in the study, including environmental factors such as pollution, or socioeconomic factors such as income and education level, or physiological factors modulating the B-MORE response, like hematocrit level and baseline coronary blood flow (31,49–53). Future studies should include a wider range of factors to assess their potential contributions to vascular and microvascular function in the general healthy population.

Conclusions and Future Directions

Our results indicate that age, sex, and body composition affect coronary vascular function in healthy individuals. Though several questions remain unanswered and not all results were in line with these observations, our study suggests a strong potential of the breathing-induced

myocardial oxygenation reserve (B-MORE) as measured by breathing-enhanced OS-CMR as an early risk marker. Height, BSA, sex, CVD risk, and age were independently predictive of B-MORE, in addition to BMI and heart rate in subsets of our population. This preliminary research aids in the understanding of the underlying subclinical variations in vascular function which occur even in individuals considered healthy.

Future studies should incorporate a wider range of factors with a known impact on coronary microvascular function across the lifespan, including socioeconomic, environmental, and sex-specific factors, to better understand variations of vascular function in the diverse general population. B-MORE's utility as a marker for vascular dysfunction, and the potential prognostic value it may hold, must be further explored in various clinical settings but also as a screening marker.

Tables and Figures:

Figure 1:



Figure 1: The change of myocardial oxygenation in response to a combined breathing maneuver (Breathing- induced Myocardial-Oxygenation REserve (B-MORE) was calculated as the percentage difference in signal intensity (Δ SI%) between the end-systolic myocardial signal intensity of the first post-hyperventilation (vasoconstriction due to an decrease of CO₂), and at 30 seconds into the breath hold, (vasodilation due to an increase of CO₂).

Figure created by Katherine Lindsay with Biorender.com (32)

		Sample Size	Mean ± SD	95% CI of mean
Age (years) Total		80	40.64 ± 15.81	[37.12, 44.15]
	Under 35	39	25.26 ± 4.44	[23.82, 26.70]
	35-55	27	52.37 ± 1.78	[51.67, 53.07]
	56-70	14	60.86 ± 4.26	[58.4, 63.32]
Cardiovascular Risk	Total	80	18.28 ± 15.51	[14.82, 21.73]
(%)				
	0-9%	32	3.88 ± 1.98	[3.161, 4.589]
	10-20%	12	14.5 ± 3.94	[11.99, 17.01]
	21-31%	20	24.35 ± 2.46	[23.20, 25.50]
	32+%	16	42.31 ± 10.99	[36.36, 48.17]
Gender	Female	49 (61%)	-	-
$BMI (kg/m^2)$		80	24.78 ± 2.96	[24.12, 25.44]
$BSA(m^2)$		80	1.79 ± 0.20	[1.749, 1.839]
Height (cm)		80	167.29 ± 10.34	[165, 169.6]
Weight (kg)		80	69.64 ± 12.16	[66.93, 72.35]
Heart Rate (bpm)		80	71.4 ± 11.27	[68.81, 73.99]
Systolic Blood		80	118.38 ± 12.62	[115.6, 121.2]
Pressure (mmHg)				
Diastolic Blood		80	74.14 ± 10.41	[71.82, 76.45]
Pressure (mmHg)				

Table 2: Mean B-MORE Δ SI% by age group

Age Group	B-MORE	95% CI of mean				
	(Mean ± SD)					
Total	6.7 ± 4.06	[5.78, 7.62]				
Below 36	7.29 ± 3.95	[5.99, 8.58]				
36-55	6.26 ± 4.21	[4.59, 7.92]				
56+	5.91 ± 4.15	[3.40, 8.41]				

Figure 2



Mean B-MORE Δ SI% by age group: There is a trend to lower mean B-MORE Δ SI% values with increasing age, although these were not statistically significant.





Height significantly impacts B-MORE: In univariate linear regression, height had a significant

(R^2 =0.12; p=0.0085) positive impact on B-MORE Δ SI%.

Table 3: Unadjusted and adjusted analysis of demographic factors impacting global B-MORE

Variable	Unadjusted mod	el	Adjusted model		
	p-value	Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	
Age	0.25	-0.03	0.008	-0.03	
BMI	0.39	-0.14	0.30	-0.05	
BSA	0.09	3.91	0.025	1.35	
Heart Rate	0.76	-0.01	0.226	0.02	
Systolic Blood Pressure	0.96	0.002	0.527	0.008	
Diastolic Blood Pressure	0.84	-0.01	0.867	-0.003	
Height	0.0085	0.12	0.001	0.04	
Weight	0.23	0.047	0.107	0.016	
CVD Risk	0.29	-0.032	0.035	-0.02	
Sex	0.07	-1.73	0.006	-0.77	

Microvascular function variation in a healthy population: Insights from Oxygenation-Sensitive CMR

Figure 4



Age significantly impacts B-MORE Δ SI% in the LAD territory. Mean B-MORE Δ SI% decreased

sequentially in each age group and was significant in ANOVA analysis (p=0.04)

Figure 5



Sex significantly impacts B-MORE Δ SI% in all coronary territories: In independent t-tests, male subjects showed significantly (p<0.05) higher mean B-MORE Δ SI% compared to female subjects in each the RCA (p=0.008), LAD (p=0.02), and LCX (p=0.008), in individual t-tests.

Table 4: Significant factors impacting B-MORE ΔSI% in the sub-epicardial and sub-

	Sub-ej	picardium			Sub-endocardium					
Variable	Unadjusted model		Adjusted model		Unadju	isted model	Adjusted model			
	p- Coefficient		p-value	Coefficient	р-	Coefficient	р-	Coefficient		
	value				value		value			
Sex	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.047	-0.68		
Age	-	-	0.023	-0.03	-	-	0.036	-0.03		
Height	0.02	0.12	0.027	0.037	0.01	0.13	0.024	0.037		
CVD Risk	-	-	0.038	-0.025	-	-	-	-		

endocardial myocardial layers, identified in unadjusted and adjusted analysis

Table 5: Significant factors impacting B-MORE Δ SI% in each coronary territory, in

unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) analysis

	RCA				LAD				LCX			
Variable	Unadjusted Adjusted mode		d model	Unadjusted model Adjusted model			Unadjusted Adjusted model		el			
	model								model			
	p-	Coeffici	p-	Coeffic	p-value	Coefficie	p-value	Coefficie	p-value	Coeff	p-value	Coeffic
	value	ent	value	ient		nt		nt		icient		ient
Sex	0.008	-3.62	<0.00 01	-1.61	0.015	-2.63	-	-	0.0075	-2.43	0.001	-0.89
Age	-	-	0.0005	-0.06	0.0199	-0.078	0.009	-0.037	-	-	0.012	-0.028
Height	<0.00 01	0.247	<0.00 01	0.08	0.0122	0.127	0.004	0.047	0.0004	0.148	0.001	0.0424
CVD Risk	-	-	0.0115	-0.034	0.0257	-0.076	0.0099	-0.03	-	-	-	-
HR	-	-	0.0156	0.07	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BMI	-	-	0.0452	-0.15	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BSA	0.02	7.91	0.016	2.09	-	-	0.024	1.66	0.025	4.98	0.041	1.195

8. c. Chapter 2 References

- 1. Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2019 Mar 5;139(10):e56–528.
- 2. Gillman MW. Primordial Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation. 2015 Feb 17;131(7):599–601.
- 3. Dahlöf B. Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors: Epidemiology and Risk Assessment. The American Journal of Cardiology. 2010 Jan;105(1):3A-9A.
- 4. Fajemiroye JO, da Cunha LC, Saavedra-Rodriguez R, Rodrigues KL, Naves LM, Mourao AA, et al. Aging-Induced Biological Changes and Cardiovascular Diseases. Biomed Res Int. 2018;2018:7156435.
- 5. Petersen SE, Sanghvi MM, Aung N, Cooper JA, Paiva JM, Zemrak F, et al. The impact of cardiovascular risk factors on cardiac structure and function: Insights from the UK Biobank imaging enhancement study. PloS one. 2017;12(10):e0185114.
- 6. Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Larson MG, Massaro JM, Vasan RS. Predicting the 30year risk of cardiovascular disease: the framingham heart study. Circulation. 2009 Jun 23;119(24):3078–84.
- Wu C, Zhang K, Odden MC, Kucharska-Newton AM, Palta P, Matsushita K, et al. Subclinical Vascular Disease Burden and Premature Mortality Among Middle-aged Adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. J GEN INTERN MED. 2021 Jul;36(7):2048–54.
- 8. Cortés YI, Catov JM, Brooks M, El Khoudary SR, Thurston RC, Matthews KA, et al. Pregnancy-related events associated with subclinical cardiovascular disease burden in late midlife: SWAN. Atherosclerosis. 2019 Oct;289:27–35.
- 9. Snelder SM, Groot-de Laat LE, Biter LU, Castro Cabezas M, Pouw N, Birnie E, et al. Subclinical cardiac dysfunction in obesity patients is linked to autonomic dysfunction: findings from the CARDIOBESE study. ESC Heart Failure. 2020 Dec;7(6):3726–37.
- 10. Harvey A, Montezano AC, Touyz RM. Vascular biology of ageing—Implications in hypertension. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 2015 Jun;83:112–21.
- Paneni F, Diaz Cañestro C, Libby P, Lüscher TF, Camici GG. The Aging Cardiovascular System. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2017 Apr;69(15):1952–67.
- 12. Marvao A, Alexander D, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Price S. Heart disease in women: a narrative review. Anaesthesia. 2021 Apr;76(S4):118–30.
- Patel MB, Bui LP, Kirkeeide RL, Gould KL. Imaging Microvascular Dysfunction and Mechanisms for Female-Male Differences in CAD. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2016 Apr;9(4):465–82.

- 14. Osibogun O, Ogunmoroti O, Michos ED. Polycystic ovary syndrome and cardiometabolic risk: Opportunities for cardiovascular disease prevention. Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine. 2020 Oct;30(7):399–404.
- 15. Gunaratne MDSK, Thorsteinsdottir B, Garovic VD. Combined Oral Contraceptive Pill-Induced Hypertension and Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy: Shared Mechanisms and Clinical Similarities. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2021 May;23(5):29.
- Shufelt CL, Pacheco C, Tweet MS, Miller VM. Sex-Specific Physiology and Cardiovascular Disease. In: Kerkhof PLM, Miller VM, editors. Sex-Specific Analysis of Cardiovascular Function [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018 [cited 2022 Jan 10]. p. 433–54. (Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; vol. 1065). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-77932-4_27
- Graupera M, Claret M. Endothelial Cells: New Players in Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2018 Nov;29(11):781– 94.
- 18. Coelho M, Oliveira T, Fernandes R. Biochemistry of adipose tissue: an endocrine organ. Arch Med Sci. 2013 Apr 20;9(2):191–200.
- 19. Wacker CM, Bock M, Hartlep AW, Beck G, van Kaick G, Ertl G, et al. Changes in myocardial oxygenation and perfusion under pharmacological stress with dipyridamole: assessment using T*2 and T1 measurements. Magn Reson Med. 1999 Apr;41(4):686–95.
- 20. Friedrich MG, Karamitsos TD. Oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Dec;15(1):43.
- 21. Luu JM, Schmidt A, Flewitt J, Mikami Y, ter Keurs H, Friedrich MG. Cardiovascular risk is associated with a transmural gradient of myocardial oxygenation during adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Nov 1;20(11):1287–95.
- 22. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Friedrich MG. Myocardial oxygenation is maintained during hypoxia when combined with apnea - a cardiovascular MR study. Physiol Rep [Internet]. 2013 Oct [cited 2020 Jul 23];1(5). Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/phy2.98
- Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Friedrich MG. Impact of Intermittent Apnea on Myocardial Tissue Oxygenation—A Study Using Oxygenation-Sensitive Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. Bauer WR, editor. PLoS ONE. 2013 Jan 3;8(1):e53282.
- 24. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Yu J, Lukic R, Friedrich JA, et al. Breathing manoeuvre-dependent changes in myocardial oxygenation in healthy humans. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2014 Apr 1;15(4):409–14.
- 25. Elharram M, Hillier E, Hawkins S, Mikami Y, Heydari B, Merchant N, et al. Regional Heterogeneity in the Coronary Vascular Response in Women With Chest Pain and Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease. Circulation. 2021 Feb 16;143(7):764–6.

- 26. Hillier E, Friedrich MG. The Potential of Oxygenation-Sensitive CMR in Heart Failure. Curr Heart Fail Rep. 2021 Oct;18(5):304–14.
- 27. Hillier E, Hafyane T, Friedrich MG. Myocardial and cerebral oxygenation deficits in heart failure patients a multi-parametric study. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Jun 1;20(Supplement_2):jez114.003.
- 28. Fischer K, Yamaji K, Luescher S, Ueki Y, Jung B, von Tengg-Kobligk H, et al. Feasibility of cardiovascular magnetic resonance to detect oxygenation deficits in patients with multi-vessel coronary artery disease triggered by breathing maneuvers. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2018 May 7;20(1):31.
- 29. Roubille F, Fischer K, Guensch DP, Tardif JC, Friedrich MG. Impact of hyperventilation and apnea on myocardial oxygenation in patients with obstructive sleep apnea An oxygenation-sensitive CMR study. Journal of Cardiology. 2017 Feb;69(2):489–94.
- Dill T. Contraindications to magnetic resonance imaging. Heart. 2008 Jul 1;94(7):943– 8.
- 31. Guensch DP, Nadeshalingam G, Fischer K, Stalder AF, Friedrich MG. The impact of hematocrit on oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2016 Jul 20;18(1):42.
- 32. 2022. BioRender [Internet]. Available from: biorender.com
- 33. American Heart Association Writing Group on Myocardial Segmentation and Registration for Cardiac Imaging:, Cerqueira MD, Weissman NJ, Dilsizian V, Jacobs AK, Kaul S, et al. Standardized Myocardial Segmentation and Nomenclature for Tomographic Imaging of the Heart: A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the Cardiac Imaging Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology of the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2002 Jan 29;105(4):539–42.
- El Edelbi R, Lindemalm S, Eksborg S. Estimation of body surface area in various childhood ages--validation of the Mosteller formula. Acta Paediatr. 2012 May;101(5):540–4.
- Koo TK, Li MY. A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. Journal of Chiropractic Medicine. 2016 Jun;15(2):155–63.
- Hillier E, Hawkins S, Friedrich M. HEALTHY AGING REDUCES THE MYOCARDIAL OXYGENATION RESERVE AS ASSESSED WITH OXYGENATION SENSITIVE CMR. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2019 Oct;35(10):S81.
- 37. Scioli MG, Bielli A, Arcuri G, Ferlosio A, Orlandi A. Ageing and microvasculature. Vasc Cell. 2014;6:19.

- 38. Costanian C, McCague H, Tamim H. Age at natural menopause and its associated factors in Canada: cross-sectional analyses from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Menopause. 2018 Mar;25(3):265–72.
- Tunc E, Eve AA, Madak-Erdogan Z. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction and Estrogen Receptor Signaling. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2020 Mar;31(3):228–38.
- 40. Després JP. Body Fat Distribution and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: An Update. Circulation. 2012 Sep 4;126(10):1301–13.
- 41. Cornier MA, Després JP, Davis N, Grossniklaus DA, Klein S, Lamarche B, et al. Assessing Adiposity: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2011 Nov;124(18):1996–2019.
- 42. Ross R, Neeland IJ, Yamashita S, Shai I, Seidell J, Magni P, et al. Waist circumference as a vital sign in clinical practice: a Consensus Statement from the IAS and ICCR Working Group on Visceral Obesity. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2020 Mar;16(3):177–89.
- 43. Ashwell M, Gunn P, Gibson S. Waist-to-height ratio is a better screening tool than waist circumference and BMI for adult cardiometabolic risk factors: systematic review and meta-analysis: Waist-to-height ratio as a screening tool. Obesity Reviews. 2012 Mar;13(3):275–86.
- 44. Yano S. Does body height affect vascular function? Hypertens Res. 2022 Feb;45(2):369–71.
- 45. Harada T, Kajikawa M, Maruhashi T, Kishimoto S, Yamaji T, Han Y, et al. Short stature is associated with low flow-mediated vasodilation in Japanese men. Hypertens Res. 2022 Feb;45(2):308–14.
- 46. Shimizu Y, Yamanashi H, Noguchi Y, Koyamatsu J, Nagayoshi M, Kiyoura K, et al. Association between height and circulating CD34-positive cells taken into account for the influence of enhanced production among elderly Japanese men: a cross-sectional study. Aging. 2019 Jan 29;11(2):663–72.
- 47. Perkins JM, Subramanian SV, Davey Smith G, Özaltin E. Adult height, nutrition, and population health. Nutr Rev. 2016 Mar;74(3):149–65.
- Nelson CP, Hamby SE, Saleheen D, Hopewell JC, Zeng L, Assimes TL, et al. Genetically Determined Height and Coronary Artery Disease. N Engl J Med. 2015 Apr 23;372(17):1608–18.
- 49. Hamanaka RB, Mutlu GM. Particulate Matter Air Pollution: Effects on the Cardiovascular System. Front Endocrinol. 2018 Nov 16;9:680.
- 50. Kulick ER, Wellenius GA, Boehme AK, Joyce NR, Schupf N, Kaufman JD, et al. Long-term exposure to air pollution and trajectories of cognitive decline among older adults. Neurology. 2020 Apr 28;94(17):e1782–92.
- 51. Lewis MW, Khodneva Y, Redmond N, Durant RW, Judd SE, Wilkinson LL, et al. The impact of the combination of income and education on the incidence of coronary heart

disease in the prospective Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) cohort study. BMC Public Health. 2015 Dec;15(1):1312.

- 52. Meneton P, Kesse-Guyot E, Méjean C, Fezeu L, Galan P, Hercberg S, et al. Unemployment is associated with high cardiovascular event rate and increased allcause mortality in middle-aged socially privileged individuals. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2015 Aug;88(6):707–16.
- 53. Vöhringer M, Flewitt JA, Green JD, Dharmakumar R, Wang J, Tyberg JV, et al. Oxygenation-sensitive CMR for assessing vasodilator-induced changes of myocardial oxygenation. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2010 Dec;12(1):20.
9. CHAPTER 3: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

9. A. SUMMARY	73
9.B. INTRODUCTION	73
9. C. CONTRIBUTIONS TO UNDERSTANDING OF MICROVASCULA	R FUNCTION.75
9. D. LIMITATIONS	78
9. E. CONCLUSION	80
9. F. CHAPTER 3 REFERENCES	81

9. a. Summary

In addition to summarizing the information presented in Chapter 1, this concluding chapter will review the findings of the original research manuscript, its limitations, and implications for our understanding of coronary microvascular function. Cardiometabolic risk factors are associated with structural, molecular, and functional alterations to the vasculature, and ultimately dysfunction. Even in absence of obstructive epicardial disease, underlying factors can result in significant deficits of microvascular function over the lifespan. It is known that age, sex, and body composition alter vascular function, though the relationship of these factors with vascular function in healthy individuals is unclear.

OS-CMR is a safe, efficient, patient-friendly, and informative non-invasive approach to assess myocardial tissue oxygenation. When used with vasoactive breathing maneuvers, this method offers a direct assessment of endothelial function, which is pertinent to microvascular disease. The study presented in this thesis utilized OS-CMR in conjunction with vasoactive breathing maneuvers to evaluate vascular function in healthy subjects. It showed that the B-MORE response is not homogeneous across all healthy subjects, but differs between the sexes, and is related to age, sex, height, and body composition.

This work contributes to the growing body of evidence demonstrating the utility of OS-CMR with vasoactive breathing maneuvers in assessing vascular function, and the possibility that this approach may identify early microvascular dysfunction.

9. b. Introduction

CMD, though undetectable by coronary angiography, is a form of ischemic heart disease which modulates disease burden and patient outcomes with or without obstructive coronary artery disease (1-3). Structural and functional alterations, likely due to the burden of

cardiometabolic risk factors, induce microvascular dysfunction before overt injury occurs (3,4). Diagnostic testing capable of visualizing microvascular function is important in detecting CMD and preventing adverse outcomes. If undetected, unnecessary revascularization and worse prognosis may result (2,3). Many diagnostic imaging techniques are limited in the reach and resolution needed to assess the microvascular system and its function in-vivo, contributing to its poor characterization and adverse outcomes (5).

OS-CMR is a non-invasive imaging modality for assessing coronary vascular function by detecting regional tissue oxygenation changes during vasodilation (6). The non-invasive assessment of vascular function without injections or contrast agents is unique (6). Blunted myocardial oxygenation changes during adenosine vasodilation, indicative of vascular dysfunction, has been observed in several cardiovascular pathologies, including CAD (7), heart failure (8), and individuals with cardiovascular risk factors but no coronary artery stenosis (9). Vasoactive breathing maneuvers, composed of hyperventilation followed by a voluntary maximal breath hold, have recently been validated as an alternative to pharmaceutical vasodilation in OS-CMR, with B-MORE as a marker for vascular function (10,11). Vasoactive breathing maneuvers increase patient comfort and may show a greater sensitivity to myocardial oxygenation changes than adenosine (12). Unlike adenosine, breathing maneuvers modulate vascular tone through an endothelial-dependent pathway (11,13,14). Carbon dioxide, a powerful vasodilator, varies during hyperventilation and apnea, modulating vascular tone by acting on the endothelial cells, which line the microvasculature (14). This endothelial-dependent mechanism gives this approach the potential to provide a direct assessment of microvascular function. OS-CMR with breathing maneuvers is noninvasive, fast, and clinically feasible, having been validated in CAD, obstructive sleep apnea, heart transplant, and heart failure cohorts (15–19). Notably, women with INOCA showed a

heterogeneous B-MORE, further suggesting that OS-CMR with breathing maneuvers is a modality which can detect underlying microvascular dysfunction (20). As recently shown, breathing-enhanced OS-CMR is a preferred test among both referring physicians and patients (21).

This thesis presents and discusses the results of a study of demographic factors in a general healthy population that may affect B-MORE as the quantitative OS-CMR-derived marker for coronary vascular function, and as such, sheds light on the variation of coronary vascular function in this population. In Chapter 2, several factors differentially affected B-MORE. This work not only contributes to the existing body of literature supporting OS-CMR with vasoactive breathing maneuvers as a non-invasive, feasible, and informative assessment of vascular function, but also expands on the current understanding of microvascular dysfunction. Chapter 2 highlighted that the B-MORE response was not fully homogeneous among subjects, despite all being healthy volunteers. Instead, the myocardial oxygenation response to breathing maneuvers was dependent on age, sex, and metrics of body composition, such as height and body size analysis. As B-MORE is a validated marker of coronary vascular function, our study provides strong evidence for a direct effect of age, sex, and metrics of body composition including height and body size on vascular function, detectable in individuals considered healthy, with no prior history of cardiovascular disease. Additionally, this suggests that individuals with vascular risk factors may show a spectrum of blunted B-MORE as their risk of cardiovascular disease increases.

9. c. Contributions to understanding of microvascular function

The findings of Chapter 2 support the thesis hypothesis that demographic factors impart slight changes to microvascular function over the lifespan. These differential results likely

represent structural or functional alterations resulting from a multifactorial impact on the subject's vasculature. Though invasive measurements of microvascular function were not assessed in this thesis, it can be inferred that these results specifically reflect microvascular function and thereby blunted endothelial signalling pathways. This is supported by the known endothelial-dependent vasodilation of breathing maneuvers, in which carbon dioxide modulates vascular tone by acting on endothelial cells lining the microvasculature (14). As such, it is likely that the results shown in Chapter 2 do indeed reflect true variations in microvascular function.

Cardiometabolic risk factors are considered to first affect the microvasculature on a subclinical level, before damage to larger vessels occurs (3,4,22,23). With or without concurrent atherosclerosis, these factors drive CMD pathogenesis through structural and functional alterations (3). Notably, in Chapter 2, B-MORE variations due to certain factors mirror known microvascular abnormalities identified in previous studies. Namely, as described in Chapter 2, we observed that female subjects, who were largely above the mean Canadian post-menopausal age, showed lower global and regional B-MORE values compared to their male counterparts (24). Past research has observed that post-menopausal women undergo alterations to microvascular function, likely due to modified estrogen signalling pathways (25). Microvascular abnormalities seen in CMD are thought to be more prognostically useful in women, as woman with CMD are more likely to experience symptoms, comorbidities, and worse prognosis, despite data showing they're less likely than men to have obstructive CAD (3). As such, the observed B-MORE variations may be of particular prognostic importance in women, namely those with cardiometabolic risk factors, though further research is needed to confirm this. Subjects of shorter stature showed reduced global and regional B-MORE compared to taller subjects. Previous work examining

microvascular signalling supports these results, having shown that shorter stature is linked to a less strong vasodilation through decreased endothelial repair in the microvasculature (26– 28). Lastly, though B-MORE did not always differ significantly between age groups in univariable analysis, aging may nonetheless contribute to slight alterations to B-MORE over the lifespan, as the multivariable analyses suggest. These results indicate that B-MORE reflects a complex interplay of multiple factors which include age, sex, height, and body size analysis. This supports previous hypotheses that microvascular dysfunction progresses due to the impact of several abnormalities, not one sole factor, including aging-induced modifications, female-sex specific risk modifiers, and traditional cardiometabolic risk factors (3).

Characterization of microvascular dysfunction in vivo remains challenging, as the limits of reach and spatial resolution restrict the use of traditional methods to assess vascular disease (5). Sensitive diagnostic tools are nonetheless necessary to (early) diagnose CMD, avoid unnecessary revascularization, and inform preventive and therapeutic management. The current reference standard in the field is invasive interrogation of microvascular function (3,5). A non-invasive yet sensitive and informative methodology capable of directly assessing microvascular function is an unmet need in the field. This thesis supports the promising capability of OS-CMR with vasoactive breathing maneuvers to fill this need, as a non-invasive, feasible, and efficient methodology, with B-MORE as a direct marker of microvascular function. Future studies should compare B-MORE to the invasive reference standards of microvascular function to validate that OS-CMR with breathing maneuvers is an equally informative yet non-invasive method to assess the microvasculatre.

B-MORE's value as a prognostic marker for microvascular function has not yet been established. Longitudinal studies examining its variation over the lifespan have yet to be performed. Presumably, B-MORE would decrease as subjects age, following the results observed in Chapter 2 and the known impacts of age on the vasculature, but that has not yet been studied. Longitudinal studies should also investigate if B-MORE acts as a marker for future cardiovascular events. Blunted B-MORE may signify the early impact of cardiometabolic risk on the microvasculature, acting as a primordial predictor of cardiovascular disease or CMD. If validated in future studies, B-MORE could represent a snapshot of microvascular function over the lifetime, encompassing modifiable and nonmodifiable risk factors. Future work should study the potential impact of other cardiometabolic risk factors, including environmental and socioeconomic variables. Importantly, this research has also formed the premise for future, large scale populationbased studies to establish normal reference values for B-MORE.

9. d. Limitations

This study observed that varied demographic risk factors impart changes in microvascular function, modulating the vascular response to vasoactive breathing maneuvers. However, this work has limitations. The original research manuscript included in this thesis is a cross-sectional retrospective study with a sample size of less than 100 subjects. Studies with larger sample sizes are necessary to attain sufficient statistical power for further multivariable analyses of B-MORE across various populations, and to provide robust reference ranges for age- and sex-specific B-MORE values.

The B-MORE values obtained in the study varied, despite all individuals fitting criteria for healthy volunteers, and their variation is not fully explained by the factors included in the

statistical analysis. It is possible that subjects had yet unknown risk factors or other factors such as lifestyle or female sex-specific risk modifiers. It is unknown if site environment or site-specific scan procedures impact B-MORE. Multi-site and international studies are necessary to compare B-MORE across multiple sites. Interpretation of B-MORE values is currently restricted to comparison within the site where they've been acquired, and solely on Siemens MRI scanners. Physiological variables may have also affected the results, such as subject hematocrit. Hematocrit level, which varies with subject hydration, has been previously shown affect myocardial signal intensity (29). However, all subjects followed the same instructions regarding hydration which likely limited this variation.

No invasive measurements of microvascular function were performed, and subjects were not examined to rule out unknown epicardial disease. To date, there have been no studies correlating breathing-enhanced OS-CMR to invasive measures of microvascular function, although plans for such studies are underway. Future work should compare B-MORE obtained with breathing maneuvers to the invasive reference standards, to validate this methodology as a non-invasive measure of microvascular function.

It is not yet possible evaluate the potential prognostic value of a blunted myocardial oxygenation response to breathing maneuvers. To evaluate this, longitudinal studies repeatedly performing OS-CMR with vasoactive breathing maneuvers would be necessary, observing lifetime changes to B-MORE and their correlation with cardiovascular events. Similarly, future studies comparing B-MORE's variation over the lifetime in healthy individuals, at-risk cohorts, and cardiovascular disease patients may be useful.

9. e. Conclusion

Coronary microvascular dysfunction is a contributor to ischemic heart disease, the leading cause of death worldwide, that worsens patient symptoms and prognosis. However, it remains poorly understood and challenging to diagnose, unobservable through traditional methods of diagnosing obstructive coronary artery disease. A rapid, non-invasive, and efficient methodology, capable of visualizing early microvascular dysfunction imparted by vascular risk factors, would be extremely valuable in preventing its pathogenesis. The preliminary research encompassed by this thesis poses that OS-CMR with vasoactive breathing maneuvers may be the methodology to fill this need, with B-MORE as a sensitive marker of microvascular function. Through differential myocardial oxygenation responses to vasoactive breathing maneuvers, it was observed that demographic factors, including age, sex, and height, significantly impact the vasculature in healthy individuals. The endothelial-dependent mechanism of vasoactive breathing maneuvers suggests that our results reflect variations in microvascular function across the lifetime even in individuals considered healthy. These findings support B-MORE's sensitivity as a marker of minute underlying microvascular abnormalities. Future research will continue to investigate B-MORE's variation due to physiologic variables and vascular risk factors, aim to validate this methodology as a true assessment of microvascular function, and determine the potential prognostic value it may hold.

9. f. Chapter 3 References

- 1. Radico F, Zimarino M, Fulgenzi F, Ricci F, Di Nicola M, Jespersen L, et al. Determinants of long-term clinical outcomes in patients with angina but without obstructive coronary artery disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. European Heart Journal. 2018 Jun 14;39(23):2135–46.
- 2. Jespersen L, Hvelplund A, Abildstrøm SZ, Pedersen F, Galatius S, Madsen JK, et al. Stable angina pectoris with no obstructive coronary artery disease is associated with increased risks of major adverse cardiovascular events. Eur Heart J. 2012 Mar;33(6):734–44.
- 3. Taqueti VR, Di Carli MF. Coronary Microvascular Disease Pathogenic Mechanisms and Therapeutic Options. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2018 Nov;72(21):2625–41.
- 4. Horton WB, Barrett EJ. Microvascular Dysfunction in Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiometabolic Disease. Endocr Rev. 2021 Jan 28;42(1):29–55.
- Crea F, Lanza GA, Camici PG. Methods to Assess Coronary Microvascular Function. In: Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction [Internet]. Milano: Springer Milan; 2014 [cited 2022 Mar 18]. p. 49–72. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-88-470-5367-0_3
- 6. Friedrich MG, Karamitsos TD. Oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Dec;15(1):43.
- Arnold JR, Karamitsos TD, Bhamra-Ariza P, Francis JM, Searle N, Robson MD, et al. Myocardial Oxygenation in Coronary Artery Disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2012 May;59(22):1954–64.
- Nagao M, Yamasaki Y, Kawanami S, Kamitani T, Sagiyama K, Higo T, et al. Quantification of myocardial oxygenation in heart failure using blood-oxygen-leveldependent T2* magnetic resonance imaging: Comparison with cardiopulmonary exercise test. Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2017 Jun;39:138–43.
- 9. Luu JM, Schmidt A, Flewitt J, Mikami Y, ter Keurs H, Friedrich MG. Cardiovascular risk is associated with a transmural gradient of myocardial oxygenation during adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Nov 1;20(11):1287–95.
- Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Friedrich MG. Impact of Intermittent Apnea on Myocardial Tissue Oxygenation—A Study Using Oxygenation-Sensitive Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. Bauer WR, editor. PLoS ONE. 2013 Jan 3;8(1):e53282.
- 11. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Yu J, Lukic R, Friedrich JA, et al. Breathing manoeuvre-dependent changes in myocardial oxygenation in healthy humans. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2014 Apr 1;15(4):409–14.

- 12. Fischer K, Guensch DP, Friedrich MG. Response of myocardial oxygenation to breathing manoeuvres and adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2015 Apr 1;16(4):395–401.
- 13. Layland J, Carrick D, Lee M, Oldroyd K, Berry C. Adenosine. JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2014 Jun;7(6):581–91.
- 14. Crystal GJ. Carbon Dioxide and the Heart: Physiology and Clinical Implications. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2015 Sep;121(3):610–23.
- Iannino N, Fischer K, Friedrich M, Hafyane T, Mongeon FP, White M. Myocardial Vascular Function Assessed by Dynamic Oxygenation-sensitive Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging Long-term Following Cardiac Transplantation. Transplantation. 2021 Jun;105(6):1347–55.
- 16. Fischer K, Yamaji K, Luescher S, Ueki Y, Jung B, von Tengg-Kobligk H, et al. Feasibility of cardiovascular magnetic resonance to detect oxygenation deficits in patients with multi-vessel coronary artery disease triggered by breathing maneuvers. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2018 May 7;20(1):31.
- Roubille F, Fischer K, Guensch DP, Tardif JC, Friedrich MG. Impact of hyperventilation and apnea on myocardial oxygenation in patients with obstructive sleep apnea – An oxygenation-sensitive CMR study. Journal of Cardiology. 2017 Feb;69(2):489–94.
- Hillier E, Hafyane T, Friedrich MG. Myocardial and cerebral oxygenation deficits in heart failure patients - a multi-parametric study. European Heart Journal -Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Jun 1;20(Supplement_2):jez114.003.
- Fischer K, Guensch DP, Jung B, King I, von Tengg-Kobligk H, Giannetti N, et al. Insights Into Myocardial Oxygenation and Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Tissue Biomarkers in Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction. Circ: Heart Failure [Internet]. 2022 Apr [cited 2022 Apr 25];15(4). Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.121.008903
- 20. Elharram M, Hillier E, Hawkins S, Mikami Y, Heydari B, Merchant N, et al. Regional Heterogeneity in the Coronary Vascular Response in Women With Chest Pain and Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease. Circulation. 2021 Feb 16;143(7):764–6.
- 21. Bertrand T, Bartlett-Esquilant G, Fischer K, Friedrich MG. Patient and physician preferences for non-invasive diagnostic cardiovascular imaging technologies: a discrete choice experiment. J Patient Rep Outcomes. 2022 Dec;6(1):15.
- 22. Wu C, Zhang K, Odden MC, Kucharska-Newton AM, Palta P, Matsushita K, et al. Subclinical Vascular Disease Burden and Premature Mortality Among Middle-aged Adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. J GEN INTERN MED. 2021 Jul;36(7):2048–54.
- 23. Snelder SM, Groot-de Laat LE, Biter LU, Castro Cabezas M, Pouw N, Birnie E, et al. Subclinical cardiac dysfunction in obesity patients is linked to autonomic dysfunction: findings from the CARDIOBESE study. ESC Heart Failure. 2020 Dec;7(6):3726–37.

- 24. Costanian C, McCague H, Tamim H. Age at natural menopause and its associated factors in Canada: cross-sectional analyses from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Menopause. 2018 Mar;25(3):265–72.
- 25. Tunc E, Eve AA, Madak-Erdogan Z. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction and Estrogen Receptor Signaling. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2020 Mar;31(3):228–38.
- 26. Shimizu Y, Yamanashi H, Noguchi Y, Koyamatsu J, Nagayoshi M, Kiyoura K, et al. Association between height and circulating CD34-positive cells taken into account for the influence of enhanced production among elderly Japanese men: a cross-sectional study. Aging. 2019 Jan 29;11(2):663–72.
- 27. Harada T, Kajikawa M, Maruhashi T, Kishimoto S, Yamaji T, Han Y, et al. Short stature is associated with low flow-mediated vasodilation in Japanese men. Hypertens Res. 2022 Feb;45(2):308–14.
- 28. Yano S. Does body height affect vascular function? Hypertens Res. 2022 Feb;45(2):369–71.
- 29. Guensch DP, Nadeshalingam G, Fischer K, Stalder AF, Friedrich MG. The impact of hematocrit on oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2016 Jul 20;18(1):42.

10. Master Reference List

- Khan MA, Hashim MJ, Mustafa H, Baniyas MY, Al Suwaidi SKBM, AlKatheeri R, et al. Global Epidemiology of Ischemic Heart Disease: Results from the Global Burden of Disease Study. Cureus [Internet]. 2020 Jul 23 [cited 2022 Apr 26]; Available from: https://www.cureus.com/articles/36728-global-epidemiology-of-ischemic-heartdisease-results-from-the-global-burden-of-disease-study
- 2. Patel MR, Peterson ED, Dai D, Brennan JM, Redberg RF, Anderson HV, et al. Low diagnostic yield of elective coronary angiography. N Engl J Med. 2010 Mar 11;362(10):886–95.
- 3. Radico F, Zimarino M, Fulgenzi F, Ricci F, Di Nicola M, Jespersen L, et al. Determinants of long-term clinical outcomes in patients with angina but without obstructive coronary artery disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. European Heart Journal. 2018 Jun 14;39(23):2135–46.
- 4. Jespersen L, Hvelplund A, Abildstrøm SZ, Pedersen F, Galatius S, Madsen JK, et al. Stable angina pectoris with no obstructive coronary artery disease is associated with increased risks of major adverse cardiovascular events. Eur Heart J. 2012 Mar;33(6):734–44.
- 5. Taqueti VR, Di Carli MF. Coronary Microvascular Disease Pathogenic Mechanisms and Therapeutic Options. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2018 Nov;72(21):2625–41.
- 6. Del Buono MG, Montone RA, Camilli M, Carbone S, Narula J, Lavie CJ, et al. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction Across the Spectrum of Cardiovascular Diseases. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2021 Sep;78(13):1352–71.
- 7. Rubinshtein R, Yang EH, Rihal CS, Prasad A, Lennon RJ, Best PJ, et al. Coronary microcirculatory vasodilator function in relation to risk factors among patients without obstructive coronary disease and low to intermediate Framingham score. European Heart Journal. 2010 Apr 2;31(8):936–42.
- Taqueti VR, Shaw LJ, Cook NR, Murthy VL, Shah NR, Foster CR, et al. Excess Cardiovascular Risk in Women Relative to Men Referred for Coronary Angiography Is Associated With Severely Impaired Coronary Flow Reserve, Not Obstructive Disease. Circulation. 2017 Feb 7;135(6):566–77.
- 9. Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, Chamberlain AM, Chang AR, Cheng S, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2018 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2018 Mar 20;137(12):e67–492.
- Graham D. Vascular Physiology. In: Touyz RM, Delles C, editors. Textbook of Vascular Medicine [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2019 [cited 2022 Jan 10]. p. 13–22. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-030-16481-2_2
- 11. Guven G, Hilty MP, Ince C. Microcirculation: Physiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Application. Blood Purif. 2020;49(1–2):143–50.

- 12. Horton WB, Barrett EJ. Microvascular Dysfunction in Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiometabolic Disease. Endocr Rev. 2021 Jan 28;42(1):29–55.
- Crea F, Lanza GA, Camici PG. Methods to Assess Coronary Microvascular Function. In: Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction [Internet]. Milano: Springer Milan; 2014 [cited 2022 Mar 18]. p. 49–72. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-88-470-5367-0_3
- 14. Pfeiffer MP, Biederman RW. Cardiac MRI: A General Overview with Emphasis on Current Use and Indications. Med Clin North Am. 2015 Jul;99(4):849–61.
- 15. Ferreira VM, Piechnik SK, Robson MD, Neubauer S, Karamitsos TD. Myocardial Tissue Characterization by Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Novel Applications of T1 and T2 Mapping. Journal of Thoracic Imaging. 2014 May;29(3):147–54.
- Kotecha T, Martinez-Naharro A, Boldrini M, Knight D, Hawkins P, Kalra S, et al. Automated Pixel-Wise Quantitative Myocardial Perfusion Mapping by CMR to Detect Obstructive Coronary Artery Disease and Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Oct;12(10):1958–69.
- Larghat AM, Maredia N, Biglands J, Greenwood JP, Ball SG, Jerosch-Herold M, et al. Reproducibility of first-pass cardiovascular magnetic resonance myocardial perfusion. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2013 Apr;37(4):865–74.
- 18. Layne KA, Dargan PI, Archer JRH, Wood DM. Gadolinium deposition and the potential for toxicological sequelae A literature review of issues surrounding gadolinium-based contrast agents. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2018;84(11):2522–34.
- Wacker CM, Bock M, Hartlep AW, Beck G, van Kaick G, Ertl G, et al. Changes in myocardial oxygenation and perfusion under pharmacological stress with dipyridamole: assessment using T*2 and T1 measurements. Magn Reson Med. 1999 Apr;41(4):686–95.
- 20. Friedrich MG, Karamitsos TD. Oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Dec;15(1):43.
- 21. Luu JM, Schmidt A, Flewitt J, Mikami Y, ter Keurs H, Friedrich MG. Cardiovascular risk is associated with a transmural gradient of myocardial oxygenation during adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Nov 1;20(11):1287–95.
- Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Friedrich MG. Impact of Intermittent Apnea on Myocardial Tissue Oxygenation—A Study Using Oxygenation-Sensitive Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. Bauer WR, editor. PLoS ONE. 2013 Jan 3;8(1):e53282.
- 23. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Yu J, Lukic R, Friedrich JA, et al. Breathing manoeuvre-dependent changes in myocardial oxygenation in healthy humans. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2014 Apr 1;15(4):409–14.

- 24. Fischer K, Guensch DP, Friedrich MG. Response of myocardial oxygenation to breathing manoeuvres and adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2015 Apr 1;16(4):395–401.
- 25. Brian JE. Carbon Dioxide and the Cerebral Circulation. Anesthesiology. 1998 May 1;88(5):1365–86.
- 26. Crystal GJ. Carbon Dioxide and the Heart: Physiology and Clinical Implications. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2015 Sep;121(3):610–23.
- 27. Fischer K, Yamaji K, Luescher S, Ueki Y, Jung B, von Tengg-Kobligk H, et al. Feasibility of cardiovascular magnetic resonance to detect oxygenation deficits in patients with multi-vessel coronary artery disease triggered by breathing maneuvers. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2018 May 7;20(1):31.
- Roubille F, Fischer K, Guensch DP, Tardif JC, Friedrich MG. Impact of hyperventilation and apnea on myocardial oxygenation in patients with obstructive sleep apnea – An oxygenation-sensitive CMR study. Journal of Cardiology. 2017 Feb;69(2):489–94.
- 29. Elharram M, Hillier E, Hawkins S, Mikami Y, Heydari B, Merchant N, et al. Regional Heterogeneity in the Coronary Vascular Response in Women With Chest Pain and Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease. Circulation. 2021 Feb 16;143(7):764–6.
- 30. Hillier E, Hafyane T, Friedrich MG. Myocardial and cerebral oxygenation deficits in heart failure patients a multi-parametric study. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Jun 1;20(Supplement_2):jez114.003.
- Iannino N, Fischer K, Friedrich M, Hafyane T, Mongeon FP, White M. Myocardial Vascular Function Assessed by Dynamic Oxygenation-sensitive Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging Long-term Following Cardiac Transplantation. Transplantation. 2021 Jun;105(6):1347–55.
- 32. Fischer K, Guensch DP, Shie N, Lebel J, Friedrich MG. Breathing Maneuvers as a Vasoactive Stimulus for Detecting Inducible Myocardial Ischemia – An Experimental Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Study. Bauer WR, editor. PLoS ONE. 2016 Oct 14;11(10):e0164524.
- 33. Pries AR, Badimon L, Bugiardini R, Camici PG, Dorobantu M, Duncker DJ, et al. Coronary vascular regulation, remodelling, and collateralization: mechanisms and clinical implications on behalf of the working group on coronary pathophysiology and microcirculation. Eur Heart J. 2015 Dec 1;36(45):3134–46.
- 34. Gutterman DD, Chabowski DS, Kadlec AO, Durand MJ, Freed JK, Ait-Aissa K, et al. The Human Microcirculation: Regulation of Flow and Beyond. Circ Res. 2016 Jan 8;118(1):157–72.
- 35. Climie RE, van Sloten TT, Bruno RM, Taddei S, Empana JP, Stehouwer CDA, et al. Macrovasculature and Microvasculature at the Crossroads Between Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension. Hypertension. 2019 Jun;73(6):1138–49.

- 36. Egashira K, Inou T, Hirooka Y, Yamada A, Maruoka Y, Kai H, et al. Impaired coronary blood flow response to acetylcholine in patients with coronary risk factors and proximal atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest. 1993 Jan;91(1):29–37.
- Di Carli MF, Charytan D, McMahon GT, Ganz P, Dorbala S, Schelbert HR. Coronary circulatory function in patients with the metabolic syndrome. J Nucl Med. 2011 Sep;52(9):1369–77.
- 38. Hamasaki S, Al Suwaidi J, Higano ST, Miyauchi K, Holmes DR, Lerman A. Attenuated coronary flow reserve and vascular remodeling in patients with hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000 May;35(6):1654–60.
- 39. Ong P, Athanasiadis A, Borgulya G, Mahrholdt H, Kaski JC, Sechtem U. High prevalence of a pathological response to acetylcholine testing in patients with stable angina pectoris and unobstructed coronary arteries. The ACOVA Study (Abnormal COronary VAsomotion in patients with stable angina and unobstructed coronary arteries). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012 Feb 14;59(7):655–62.
- 40. Shimokawa H. 2014 Williams Harvey Lecture: importance of coronary vasomotion abnormalities-from bench to bedside. Eur Heart J. 2014 Dec 1;35(45):3180–93.
- 41. Masi S, Rizzoni D, Taddei S, Widmer RJ, Montezano AC, Lüscher TF, et al. Assessment and pathophysiology of microvascular disease: recent progress and clinical implications. European Heart Journal. 2021 Jul 8;42(26):2590–604.
- 42. Magenta A, Greco S, Capogrossi MC, Gaetano C, Martelli F. Nitric oxide, oxidative stress, and p66Shc interplay in diabetic endothelial dysfunction. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:193095.
- 43. Kaski JC, Crea F, Gersh BJ, Camici PG. Reappraisal of Ischemic Heart Disease. Circulation. 2018 Oct 2;138(14):1463–80.
- 44. Camici PG, Crea F. Coronary microvascular dysfunction. N Engl J Med. 2007 Feb 22;356(8):830–40.
- 45. Camici PG, Tschöpe C, Di Carli MF, Rimoldi O, Van Linthout S. Coronary microvascular dysfunction in hypertrophy and heart failure. Cardiovasc Res. 2020 Mar 1;116(4):806–16.
- 46. Vancheri F, Longo G, Vancheri S, Henein M. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction. JCM. 2020 Sep 6;9(9):2880.
- 47. Murthy VL, Naya M, Taqueti VR, Foster CR, Gaber M, Hainer J, et al. Effects of sex on coronary microvascular dysfunction and cardiac outcomes. Circulation. 2014 Jun 17;129(24):2518–27.
- 48. Halcox JPJ, Schenke WH, Zalos G, Mincemoyer R, Prasad A, Waclawiw MA, et al. Prognostic value of coronary vascular endothelial dysfunction. Circulation. 2002 Aug 6;106(6):653–8.

- 49. van Kranenburg M, Magro M, Thiele H, de Waha S, Eitel I, Cochet A, et al. Prognostic value of microvascular obstruction and infarct size, as measured by CMR in STEMI patients. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014 Sep;7(9):930–9.
- 50. Grayburn PA. "Product safety" compromises patient safety (an unjustified black box warning on ultrasound contrast agents by the Food and Drug Administration). American Journal of Cardiology. 2008;101(6):892–3.
- 51. Feher A, Sinusas AJ. Quantitative Assessment of Coronary Microvascular Function: Dynamic Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography, Positron Emission Tomography, Ultrasound, Computed Tomography, and Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Circ: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2017 Aug;10(8):e006427.
- 52. Kaufmann PA, Camici PG. Myocardial blood flow measurement by PET: technical aspects and clinical applications. Journal of Nuclear Medicine. 2005;46(1):75–88.
- 53. Revett K. An Introduction to Magnetic Resonance Imaging: From Image Acquisition to Clinical Diagnosis. In: Kwaśnicka H, Jain LC, editors. Innovations in Intelligent Image Analysis [Internet]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2011 [cited 2022 Mar 19]. p. 127–61. (Kacprzyk J, editor. Studies in Computational Intelligence; vol. 339). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-17934-1_7
- 54. Boerma M, Sridharan V, Mao XW, Nelson GA, Cheema AK, Koturbash I, et al. Effects of ionizing radiation on the heart. Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research. 2016 Oct;770:319–27.
- Gallagher TA, Nemeth AJ, Hacein-Bey L. An Introduction to the Fourier Transform: Relationship to MRI. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2008 May;190(5):1396– 405.
- 56. Kim PK, Hong YJ, Im DJ, Suh YJ, Park CH, Kim JY, et al. Myocardial T1 and T2 mapping: techniques and clinical applications. Korean journal of radiology. 2017;18(1):113–31.
- Everett RJ, Stirrat CG, Semple SIR, Newby DE, Dweck MR, Mirsadraee S. Assessment of myocardial fibrosis with T1 mapping MRI. Clinical Radiology. 2016 Aug;71(8):768–78.
- 58. Serai SD. Basics of magnetic resonance imaging and quantitative parameters T1, T2, T2*, T1rho and diffusion-weighted imaging. Pediatr Radiol. 2022 Feb;52(2):217–27.
- 59. Kellman P, Hansen MS. T1-mapping in the heart: accuracy and precision. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2014 Dec;16(1):2.
- Thavendiranathan P, Walls M, Giri S, Verhaert D, Rajagopalan S, Moore S, et al. Improved Detection of Myocardial Involvement in Acute Inflammatory Cardiomyopathies Using T2 Mapping. Circ: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2012 Jan;5(1):102–10.
- 61. Wassmuth R, Prothmann M, Utz W, Dieringer M, von Knobelsdorff-Brenkenhoff F, Greiser A, et al. Variability and homogeneity of cardiovascular magnetic resonance

myocardial T2-mapping in volunteers compared to patients with edema. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Dec;15(1):27.

- 62. Bruder O, Wagner A, Lombardi M, Schwitter J, van Rossum A, Pilz G, et al. European Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance (EuroCMR) registry--multi national results from 57 centers in 15 countries. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Jan 18;15:9.
- 63. Thomson LEJ, Wei J, Agarwal M, Haft-Baradaran A, Shufelt C, Mehta PK, et al. Cardiac magnetic resonance myocardial perfusion reserve index is reduced in women with coronary microvascular dysfunction. A National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institutesponsored study from the Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015 Apr;8(4):e002481.
- 64. Patel A, Epstein F, Kramer C. Evaluation of the microcirculation: Advances in cardiac magnetic resonance perfusion imaging. Journal of Nuclear Cardiology. 2008 Sep;15(5):698–708.
- 65. Rosen BD, Lima JAC, Nasir K, Edvardsen T, Folsom AR, Lai S, et al. Lower Myocardial Perfusion Reserve Is Associated With Decreased Regional Left Ventricular Function in Asymptomatic Participants of the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2006 Jul 25;114(4):289–97.
- 66. Pauling L, Coryell CD. The Magnetic Properties and Structure of Hemoglobin, Oxyhemoglobin and Carbonmonoxyhemoglobin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1936 Apr;22(4):210–6.
- 67. Ogawa S, Tank DW, Menon R, Ellermann JM, Kim SG, Merkle H, et al. Intrinsic signal changes accompanying sensory stimulation: functional brain mapping with magnetic resonance imaging. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1992 Jul 1;89(13):5951–5.
- 68. Bauer WR, Nadler W, Bock M, Schad LR, Wacker C, Hartlep A, et al. The relationship between the BOLD-induced T2 and T2*: A theoretical approach for the vasculature of myocardium. Magn Reson Med. 1999 Dec;42(6):1004–10.
- 69. Li D, Dhawale P, Rubin PJ, Haacke EM, Gropler RJ. Myocardial signal response to dipyridamole and dobutamine: Demonstration of the BOLD effect using a double-echo gradient-echo sequence. Magn Reson Med. 1996 Jul;36(1):16–20.
- Atalay MK, Forder JR, Chacko VP, Kawamoto S, Zerhouni EA. Oxygenation in the rabbit myocardium: assessment with susceptibility-dependent MR imaging. Radiology. 1993 Dec;189(3):759–64.
- 71. Arnold JR, Karamitsos TD, Bhamra-Ariza P, Francis JM, Searle N, Robson MD, et al. Myocardial Oxygenation in Coronary Artery Disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2012 May;59(22):1954–64.
- 72. Karamitsos TD, Leccisotti L, Arnold JR, Recio-Mayoral A, Bhamra-Ariza P, Howells RK, et al. Relationship Between Regional Myocardial Oxygenation and Perfusion in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease: Insights From Cardiovascular Magnetic

Resonance and Positron Emission Tomography. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010 Jan;3(1):32–40.

- 73. Manka R, Paetsch I, Schnackenburg B, Gebker R, Fleck E, Jahnke C. BOLD cardiovascular magnetic resonance at 3.0 tesla in myocardial ischemia. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2010 Dec;12(1):54.
- 74. Wendland MF, Saeed M, Lauerma K, De Crespigny A, Moseley ME, Higgins CB. Endogenous susceptibility contrast in myocardium during apnea measured using gradient recalled echo planar imaging. Magn Reson Med. 1993 Feb;29(2):273–6.
- 75. Niemi P, Poncelet BP, Kwong KK, Weisskoff RM, Rosen BR, Brady TJ, et al. Myocardial intensity changes associated with flow stimulation in blood oxygenation sensitive magnetic resonance imaging. Magn Reson Med. 1996 Jul;36(1):78–82.
- 76. Fieno DS, Shea SM, Li Y, Harris KR, Finn JP, Li D. Myocardial Perfusion Imaging Based on the Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent Effect Using T₂-Prepared Steady-State Free-Precession Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Circulation. 2004 Sep 7;110(10):1284– 90.
- 77. Wacker CM, Hartlep AW, Pfleger S, Schad LR, Ertl G, Bauer WR. Susceptibilitysensitive magnetic resonance imaging detects human myocardium supplied by a stenotic coronary artery without a contrast agent. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2003 Mar;41(5):834–40.
- 78. Friedrich MG, Niendorf T, Schulz-Menger J, Gross CM, Dietz R. Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Patients with Stress-Induced Angina. Circulation. 2003 Nov 4;108(18):2219–23.
- 79. Dharmakumar R, Hong J, Brittain JH, Plewes DB, Wright GA. Oxygen-sensitive contrast in blood for steady-state free precession imaging. Magn Reson Med. 2005 Mar;53(3):574–83.
- 80. Dharmakumar R, Arumana JM, Tang R, Harris K, Zhang Z, Li D. Assessment of regional myocardial oxygenation changes in the presence of coronary artery stenosis with balanced SSFP imaging at 3.0T: Theory and experimental evaluation in canines. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2008 May;27(5):1037–45.
- Tsaftaris SA, Tang R, Zhou X, Li D, Dharmakumar R. Ischemic extent as a biomarker for characterizing severity of coronary artery stenosis with blood oxygen-sensitive MRI. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2012 Jun;35(6):1338–48.
- 82. Yang HJ, Oksuz I, Dey D, Sykes J, Klein M, Butler J, et al. Accurate needle-free assessment of myocardial oxygenation for ischemic heart disease in canines using magnetic resonance imaging. Sci Transl Med. 2019 May 29;11(494):eaat4407.
- 83. Bernhardt P, Manzke R, Bornstedt A, Gradinger R, Spieß J, Walcher D, et al. Blood oxygen level-dependent magnetic resonance imaging using T2-prepared steady-state free-precession imaging in comparison to contrast-enhanced myocardial perfusion imaging. International Journal of Cardiology. 2011 Mar;147(3):416–9.

- Jahnke C, Gebker R, Manka R, Schnackenburg B, Fleck E, Paetsch I. Navigator-Gated 3D Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent CMR at 3.0-T for Detection of Stress-Induced Myocardial Ischemic Reactions. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2010 Apr;3(4):375– 84.
- 85. Walcher T, Manzke R, Hombach V, Rottbauer W, Wöhrle J, Bernhardt P. Myocardial Perfusion Reserve Assessed by T2-Prepared Steady-State Free Precession Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Comparison to Fractional Flow Reserve. Circ: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2012 Sep;5(5):580–6.
- 86. Luu JM, Friedrich MG, Harker J, Dwyer N, Guensch D, Mikami Y, et al. Relationship of vasodilator-induced changes in myocardial oxygenation with the severity of coronary artery stenosis: a study using oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. European Heart Journal - Cardiovascular Imaging. 2014 Dec 1;15(12):1358–67.
- 87. Karamitsos TD, Dass S, Suttie J, Sever E, Birks J, Holloway CJ, et al. Blunted Myocardial Oxygenation Response During Vasodilator Stress in Patients With Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013 Mar;61(11):1169–76.
- 88. Grover S, Lloyd R, Perry R, Lou PW, Haan E, Yeates L, et al. Assessment of myocardial oxygenation, strain, and diastology in MYBPC3-related hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance and echocardiography study. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Aug 1;20(8):932–8.
- 89. Parnham SF, Gleadle JM, Leong D, Grover S, Perry R, Bradbrook C, et al. Myocardial oxygenation is impaired in advanced chronic kidney disease and renal transplant patients. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2015 Dec;17(S1):P116, 1532-429X-17-S1-P116.
- 90. Parnham S, Gleadle JM, Bangalore S, Grover S, Perry R, Woodman RJ, et al. Impaired Myocardial Oxygenation Response to Stress in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease. JAHA. 2015 Aug 25;4(8):e002249.
- 91. Luu J, Schmidt A, Flewitt J, Howarth AG, Friedrich MG. Transmural variations of vasodilator-induced changes of myocardial oxygenation vary with age and the presence of diabetes mellitus type II: a study using oxygen-sensitive cardiovascular MR. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Jan;15(S1):P132, 1532-429X-15-S1-P132.
- 92. Sree Raman K, Stokes M, Walls A, Perry R, Steele PM, Burdeniuk C, et al. Feasibility of oxygen sensitive cardiac magnetic resonance of the right ventricle in pulmonary artery hypertension. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2019 Oct;9(5):502–12.
- 93. Chen BH, Shi RY, An DA, Wu R, Wu CW, Hu J, et al. BOLD cardiac MRI for differentiating reversible and irreversible myocardial damage in ST segment elevation myocardial infarction. Eur Radiol. 2019 Feb;29(2):951–62.
- 94. Nagao M, Yamasaki Y, Kawanami S, Kamitani T, Sagiyama K, Higo T, et al. Quantification of myocardial oxygenation in heart failure using blood-oxygen-leveldependent T2* magnetic resonance imaging: Comparison with cardiopulmonary exercise test. Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2017 Jun;39:138–43.

- 95. Egred M. Detection of scarred and viable myocardium using a new magnetic resonance imaging technique: blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) MRI. Heart. 2003 Jul 1;89(7):738–44.
- 96. Karamitsos TD, Arnold JR, Pegg TJ, Francis JM, Birks J, Jerosch-Herold M, et al. Patients With Syndrome X Have Normal Transmural Myocardial Perfusion and Oxygenation: A 3-T Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012 Mar;5(2):194–200.
- 97. Ikeda U. Adenosine stimulates nitric oxide synthesis in vascular smooth muscle cells. Cardiovascular Research. 1997 Jul;35(1):168–74.
- 98. Chen K, Pittman RN, Popel AS. Nitric Oxide in the Vasculature: Where Does It Come From and Where Does It Go? A Quantitative Perspective. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling. 2008 Jul;10(7):1185–98.
- 99. Voigtlander T, Schmermund A, Bramlage P, Elsasser A, Magedanz A, Kauczor HU, et al. The adverse events and hemodynamic effects of adenosine-based cardiac MRI. Korean J Radiol. 2011 Aug;12(4):424–30.
- 100. Department of Radiology and Imaging, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Jordan, Hong Kong, Tsang K, Chan WS, Shiu C, Chan M. The safety and tolerability of adenosine as a pharmacological stressor in stress perfusion cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in the Chinese population. Hong Kong Med J [Internet]. 2015 Aug 14 [cited 2022 Mar 22]; Available from: http://www.hkmj.org/abstracts/v21n6/524.htm
- 101. Lavi S, Gaitini D, Milloul V, Jacob G. Impaired cerebral CO₂ vasoreactivity: association with endothelial dysfunction. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2006 Oct;291(4):H1856–61.
- Claassen JAHR, Thijssen DHJ, Panerai RB, Faraci FM. Regulation of cerebral blood flow in humans: physiology and clinical implications of autoregulation. Physiological Reviews. 2021 Oct 1;101(4):1487–559.
- 103. Spano VR, Mandell DM, Poublanc J, Sam K, Battisti-Charbonney A, Pucci O, et al. CO 2 Blood Oxygen Level-dependent MR Mapping of Cerebrovascular Reserve in a Clinical Population: Safety, Tolerability, and Technical Feasibility. Radiology. 2013 Feb;266(2):592–8.
- 104. Moreton FC, Dani KA, Goutcher C, O'Hare K, Muir KW. Respiratory challenge MRI: Practical aspects. NeuroImage: Clinical. 2016;11:667–77.
- 105. Teixeira T, Nadeshalingam G, Fischer K, Marcotte F, Friedrich MG. Breathing maneuvers as a coronary vasodilator for myocardial perfusion imaging: Breathing Maneuvers for Cardiac Perfusion Imaging. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2016 Oct;44(4):947–55.
- 106. Fischer K, Guensch DP, Jung B, King I, von Tengg-Kobligk H, Giannetti N, et al. Insights Into Myocardial Oxygenation and Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Tissue Biomarkers in Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction. Circ: Heart Failure

[Internet]. 2022 Apr [cited 2022 Apr 25];15(4). Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.121.008903

- Guensch DP, Nadeshalingam G, Fischer K, Stalder AF, Friedrich MG. The impact of hematocrit on oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2016 Jul 20;18(1):42.
- 108. Akunov A, Sydykov A, Toktash T, Doolotova A, Sarybaev A. Hemoglobin Changes After Long-Term Intermittent Work at High Altitude. Front Physiol. 2018 Nov 1;9:1552.
- 109. León-Velarde F, Gamboa A, Chuquiza JA, Esteba WA, Rivera-Chira M, Monge C. C. Hematological Parameters in High Altitude Residents Living at 4355, 4660, and 5500 Meters Above Sea Level. High Altitude Medicine & Biology. 2000 Jun;1(2):97–104.
- 110. Wu C, Zhang K, Odden MC, Kucharska-Newton AM, Palta P, Matsushita K, et al. Subclinical Vascular Disease Burden and Premature Mortality Among Middle-aged Adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. J GEN INTERN MED. 2021 Jul;36(7):2048–54.
- 111. Snelder SM, Groot-de Laat LE, Biter LU, Castro Cabezas M, Pouw N, Birnie E, et al. Subclinical cardiac dysfunction in obesity patients is linked to autonomic dysfunction: findings from the CARDIOBESE study. ESC Heart Failure. 2020 Dec;7(6):3726–37.
- 112. Cortés YI, Catov JM, Brooks M, El Khoudary SR, Thurston RC, Matthews KA, et al. Pregnancy-related events associated with subclinical cardiovascular disease burden in late midlife: SWAN. Atherosclerosis. 2019 Oct;289:27–35.
- 113. Hillier E, Hawkins S, Friedrich M. HEALTHY AGING REDUCES THE MYOCARDIAL OXYGENATION RESERVE AS ASSESSED WITH OXYGENATION SENSITIVE CMR. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2019 Oct;35(10):S81.
- 114. Harvey A, Montezano AC, Touyz RM. Vascular biology of ageing—Implications in hypertension. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 2015 Jun;83:112–21.
- 115. Paneni F, Diaz Cañestro C, Libby P, Lüscher TF, Camici GG. The Aging Cardiovascular System. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2017 Apr;69(15):1952–67.
- 116. Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2019 Mar 5;139(10):e56–528.
- Gillman MW. Primordial Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation. 2015 Feb 17;131(7):599–601.
- 118. Dahlöf B. Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors: Epidemiology and Risk Assessment. The American Journal of Cardiology. 2010 Jan;105(1):3A-9A.

- 119. Fajemiroye JO, da Cunha LC, Saavedra-Rodriguez R, Rodrigues KL, Naves LM, Mourao AA, et al. Aging-Induced Biological Changes and Cardiovascular Diseases. Biomed Res Int. 2018;2018:7156435.
- 120. Petersen SE, Sanghvi MM, Aung N, Cooper JA, Paiva JM, Zemrak F, et al. The impact of cardiovascular risk factors on cardiac structure and function: Insights from the UK Biobank imaging enhancement study. PloS one. 2017;12(10):e0185114.
- 121. Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Larson MG, Massaro JM, Vasan RS. Predicting the 30year risk of cardiovascular disease: the framingham heart study. Circulation. 2009 Jun 23;119(24):3078–84.
- 122. Wu C, Zhang K, Odden MC, Kucharska-Newton AM, Palta P, Matsushita K, et al. Subclinical Vascular Disease Burden and Premature Mortality Among Middle-aged Adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. J GEN INTERN MED. 2021 Jul;36(7):2048–54.
- 123. Cortés YI, Catov JM, Brooks M, El Khoudary SR, Thurston RC, Matthews KA, et al. Pregnancy-related events associated with subclinical cardiovascular disease burden in late midlife: SWAN. Atherosclerosis. 2019 Oct;289:27–35.
- 124. Snelder SM, Groot-de Laat LE, Biter LU, Castro Cabezas M, Pouw N, Birnie E, et al. Subclinical cardiac dysfunction in obesity patients is linked to autonomic dysfunction: findings from the CARDIOBESE study. ESC Heart Failure. 2020 Dec;7(6):3726–37.
- 125. Harvey A, Montezano AC, Touyz RM. Vascular biology of ageing—Implications in hypertension. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 2015 Jun;83:112–21.
- 126. Paneni F, Diaz Cañestro C, Libby P, Lüscher TF, Camici GG. The Aging Cardiovascular System. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2017 Apr;69(15):1952–67.
- 127. Marvao A, Alexander D, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Price S. Heart disease in women: a narrative review. Anaesthesia. 2021 Apr;76(S4):118–30.
- Patel MB, Bui LP, Kirkeeide RL, Gould KL. Imaging Microvascular Dysfunction and Mechanisms for Female-Male Differences in CAD. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2016 Apr;9(4):465–82.
- Osibogun O, Ogunmoroti O, Michos ED. Polycystic ovary syndrome and cardiometabolic risk: Opportunities for cardiovascular disease prevention. Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine. 2020 Oct;30(7):399–404.
- 130. Gunaratne MDSK, Thorsteinsdottir B, Garovic VD. Combined Oral Contraceptive Pill-Induced Hypertension and Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy: Shared Mechanisms and Clinical Similarities. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2021 May;23(5):29.
- 131. Shufelt CL, Pacheco C, Tweet MS, Miller VM. Sex-Specific Physiology and Cardiovascular Disease. In: Kerkhof PLM, Miller VM, editors. Sex-Specific Analysis of Cardiovascular Function [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018

[cited 2022 Jan 10]. p. 433–54. (Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; vol. 1065). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-77932-4_27

- Graupera M, Claret M. Endothelial Cells: New Players in Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2018 Nov;29(11):781– 94.
- 133. Coelho M, Oliveira T, Fernandes R. Biochemistry of adipose tissue: an endocrine organ. Arch Med Sci. 2013 Apr 20;9(2):191–200.
- 134. Wacker CM, Bock M, Hartlep AW, Beck G, van Kaick G, Ertl G, et al. Changes in myocardial oxygenation and perfusion under pharmacological stress with dipyridamole: assessment using T*2 and T1 measurements. Magn Reson Med. 1999 Apr;41(4):686–95.
- 135. Friedrich MG, Karamitsos TD. Oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Dec;15(1):43.
- 136. Luu JM, Schmidt A, Flewitt J, Mikami Y, ter Keurs H, Friedrich MG. Cardiovascular risk is associated with a transmural gradient of myocardial oxygenation during adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal - Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Nov 1;20(11):1287–95.
- 137. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Friedrich MG. Myocardial oxygenation is maintained during hypoxia when combined with apnea - a cardiovascular MR study. Physiol Rep [Internet]. 2013 Oct [cited 2020 Jul 23];1(5). Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/phy2.98
- 138. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Friedrich MG. Impact of Intermittent Apnea on Myocardial Tissue Oxygenation—A Study Using Oxygenation-Sensitive Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. Bauer WR, editor. PLoS ONE. 2013 Jan 3;8(1):e53282.
- 139. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Yu J, Lukic R, Friedrich JA, et al. Breathing manoeuvre-dependent changes in myocardial oxygenation in healthy humans. European Heart Journal - Cardiovascular Imaging. 2014 Apr 1;15(4):409–14.
- 140. Elharram M, Hillier E, Hawkins S, Mikami Y, Heydari B, Merchant N, et al. Regional Heterogeneity in the Coronary Vascular Response in Women With Chest Pain and Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease. Circulation. 2021 Feb 16;143(7):764–6.
- 141. Hillier E, Friedrich MG. The Potential of Oxygenation-Sensitive CMR in Heart Failure. Curr Heart Fail Rep. 2021 Oct;18(5):304–14.
- 142. Hillier E, Hafyane T, Friedrich MG. Myocardial and cerebral oxygenation deficits in heart failure patients - a multi-parametric study. European Heart Journal -Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Jun 1;20(Supplement_2):jez114.003.
- 143. Fischer K, Yamaji K, Luescher S, Ueki Y, Jung B, von Tengg-Kobligk H, et al. Feasibility of cardiovascular magnetic resonance to detect oxygenation deficits in

patients with multi-vessel coronary artery disease triggered by breathing maneuvers. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2018 May 7;20(1):31.

- 144. Roubille F, Fischer K, Guensch DP, Tardif JC, Friedrich MG. Impact of hyperventilation and apnea on myocardial oxygenation in patients with obstructive sleep apnea – An oxygenation-sensitive CMR study. Journal of Cardiology. 2017 Feb;69(2):489–94.
- 145. Dill T. Contraindications to magnetic resonance imaging. Heart. 2008 Jul 1;94(7):943– 8.
- 146. Guensch DP, Nadeshalingam G, Fischer K, Stalder AF, Friedrich MG. The impact of hematocrit on oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2016 Jul 20;18(1):42.
- 147. 2022. BioRender [Internet]. Available from: biorender.com
- 148. American Heart Association Writing Group on Myocardial Segmentation and Registration for Cardiac Imaging:, Cerqueira MD, Weissman NJ, Dilsizian V, Jacobs AK, Kaul S, et al. Standardized Myocardial Segmentation and Nomenclature for Tomographic Imaging of the Heart: A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the Cardiac Imaging Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology of the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2002 Jan 29;105(4):539–42.
- El Edelbi R, Lindemalm S, Eksborg S. Estimation of body surface area in various childhood ages--validation of the Mosteller formula. Acta Paediatr. 2012 May;101(5):540–4.
- Koo TK, Li MY. A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. Journal of Chiropractic Medicine. 2016 Jun;15(2):155–63.
- 151. Hillier E, Hawkins S, Friedrich M. HEALTHY AGING REDUCES THE MYOCARDIAL OXYGENATION RESERVE AS ASSESSED WITH OXYGENATION SENSITIVE CMR. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2019 Oct;35(10):S81.
- 152. Scioli MG, Bielli A, Arcuri G, Ferlosio A, Orlandi A. Ageing and microvasculature. Vasc Cell. 2014;6:19.
- 153. Costanian C, McCague H, Tamim H. Age at natural menopause and its associated factors in Canada: cross-sectional analyses from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Menopause. 2018 Mar;25(3):265–72.
- Tunc E, Eve AA, Madak-Erdogan Z. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction and Estrogen Receptor Signaling. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2020 Mar;31(3):228–38.
- 155. Després JP. Body Fat Distribution and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: An Update. Circulation. 2012 Sep 4;126(10):1301–13.

- 156. Cornier MA, Després JP, Davis N, Grossniklaus DA, Klein S, Lamarche B, et al. Assessing Adiposity: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2011 Nov;124(18):1996–2019.
- 157. Ross R, Neeland IJ, Yamashita S, Shai I, Seidell J, Magni P, et al. Waist circumference as a vital sign in clinical practice: a Consensus Statement from the IAS and ICCR Working Group on Visceral Obesity. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2020 Mar;16(3):177–89.
- 158. Ashwell M, Gunn P, Gibson S. Waist-to-height ratio is a better screening tool than waist circumference and BMI for adult cardiometabolic risk factors: systematic review and meta-analysis: Waist-to-height ratio as a screening tool. Obesity Reviews. 2012 Mar;13(3):275–86.
- 159. Yano S. Does body height affect vascular function? Hypertens Res. 2022 Feb;45(2):369–71.
- Harada T, Kajikawa M, Maruhashi T, Kishimoto S, Yamaji T, Han Y, et al. Short stature is associated with low flow-mediated vasodilation in Japanese men. Hypertens Res. 2022 Feb;45(2):308–14.
- 161. Shimizu Y, Yamanashi H, Noguchi Y, Koyamatsu J, Nagayoshi M, Kiyoura K, et al. Association between height and circulating CD34-positive cells taken into account for the influence of enhanced production among elderly Japanese men: a cross-sectional study. Aging. 2019 Jan 29;11(2):663–72.
- 162. Perkins JM, Subramanian SV, Davey Smith G, Özaltin E. Adult height, nutrition, and population health. Nutr Rev. 2016 Mar;74(3):149–65.
- 163. Nelson CP, Hamby SE, Saleheen D, Hopewell JC, Zeng L, Assimes TL, et al. Genetically Determined Height and Coronary Artery Disease. N Engl J Med. 2015 Apr 23;372(17):1608–18.
- 164. Hamanaka RB, Mutlu GM. Particulate Matter Air Pollution: Effects on the Cardiovascular System. Front Endocrinol. 2018 Nov 16;9:680.
- Kulick ER, Wellenius GA, Boehme AK, Joyce NR, Schupf N, Kaufman JD, et al. Long-term exposure to air pollution and trajectories of cognitive decline among older adults. Neurology. 2020 Apr 28;94(17):e1782–92.
- 166. Lewis MW, Khodneva Y, Redmond N, Durant RW, Judd SE, Wilkinson LL, et al. The impact of the combination of income and education on the incidence of coronary heart disease in the prospective Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) cohort study. BMC Public Health. 2015 Dec;15(1):1312.
- 167. Meneton P, Kesse-Guyot E, Méjean C, Fezeu L, Galan P, Hercberg S, et al. Unemployment is associated with high cardiovascular event rate and increased allcause mortality in middle-aged socially privileged individuals. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2015 Aug;88(6):707–16.

- 168. Vöhringer M, Flewitt JA, Green JD, Dharmakumar R, Wang J, Tyberg JV, et al. Oxygenation-sensitive CMR for assessing vasodilator-induced changes of myocardial oxygenation. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2010 Dec;12(1):20.
- 169. Radico F, Zimarino M, Fulgenzi F, Ricci F, Di Nicola M, Jespersen L, et al. Determinants of long-term clinical outcomes in patients with angina but without obstructive coronary artery disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. European Heart Journal. 2018 Jun 14;39(23):2135–46.
- 170. Jespersen L, Hvelplund A, Abildstrøm SZ, Pedersen F, Galatius S, Madsen JK, et al. Stable angina pectoris with no obstructive coronary artery disease is associated with increased risks of major adverse cardiovascular events. Eur Heart J. 2012 Mar;33(6):734–44.
- 171. Taqueti VR, Di Carli MF. Coronary Microvascular Disease Pathogenic Mechanisms and Therapeutic Options. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2018 Nov;72(21):2625–41.
- 172. Horton WB, Barrett EJ. Microvascular Dysfunction in Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiometabolic Disease. Endocr Rev. 2021 Jan 28;42(1):29–55.
- 173. Crea F, Lanza GA, Camici PG. Methods to Assess Coronary Microvascular Function. In: Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction [Internet]. Milano: Springer Milan; 2014 [cited 2022 Mar 18]. p. 49–72. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-88-470-5367-0_3
- 174. Friedrich MG, Karamitsos TD. Oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013 Dec;15(1):43.
- 175. Arnold JR, Karamitsos TD, Bhamra-Ariza P, Francis JM, Searle N, Robson MD, et al. Myocardial Oxygenation in Coronary Artery Disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2012 May;59(22):1954–64.
- 176. Nagao M, Yamasaki Y, Kawanami S, Kamitani T, Sagiyama K, Higo T, et al. Quantification of myocardial oxygenation in heart failure using blood-oxygen-leveldependent T2* magnetic resonance imaging: Comparison with cardiopulmonary exercise test. Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2017 Jun;39:138–43.
- 177. Luu JM, Schmidt A, Flewitt J, Mikami Y, ter Keurs H, Friedrich MG. Cardiovascular risk is associated with a transmural gradient of myocardial oxygenation during adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Nov 1;20(11):1287–95.
- 178. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Friedrich MG. Impact of Intermittent Apnea on Myocardial Tissue Oxygenation—A Study Using Oxygenation-Sensitive Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. Bauer WR, editor. PLoS ONE. 2013 Jan 3;8(1):e53282.

- 179. Guensch DP, Fischer K, Flewitt JA, Yu J, Lukic R, Friedrich JA, et al. Breathing manoeuvre-dependent changes in myocardial oxygenation in healthy humans. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging. 2014 Apr 1;15(4):409–14.
- Fischer K, Guensch DP, Friedrich MG. Response of myocardial oxygenation to breathing manoeuvres and adenosine infusion. European Heart Journal -Cardiovascular Imaging. 2015 Apr 1;16(4):395–401.
- 181. Layland J, Carrick D, Lee M, Oldroyd K, Berry C. Adenosine. JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2014 Jun;7(6):581–91.
- 182. Crystal GJ. Carbon Dioxide and the Heart: Physiology and Clinical Implications. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2015 Sep;121(3):610–23.
- 183. Iannino N, Fischer K, Friedrich M, Hafyane T, Mongeon FP, White M. Myocardial Vascular Function Assessed by Dynamic Oxygenation-sensitive Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging Long-term Following Cardiac Transplantation. Transplantation. 2021 Jun;105(6):1347–55.
- 184. Fischer K, Yamaji K, Luescher S, Ueki Y, Jung B, von Tengg-Kobligk H, et al. Feasibility of cardiovascular magnetic resonance to detect oxygenation deficits in patients with multi-vessel coronary artery disease triggered by breathing maneuvers. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2018 May 7;20(1):31.
- 185. Roubille F, Fischer K, Guensch DP, Tardif JC, Friedrich MG. Impact of hyperventilation and apnea on myocardial oxygenation in patients with obstructive sleep apnea – An oxygenation-sensitive CMR study. Journal of Cardiology. 2017 Feb;69(2):489–94.
- 186. Hillier E, Hafyane T, Friedrich MG. Myocardial and cerebral oxygenation deficits in heart failure patients - a multi-parametric study. European Heart Journal -Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019 Jun 1;20(Supplement_2):jez114.003.
- 187. Fischer K, Guensch DP, Jung B, King I, von Tengg-Kobligk H, Giannetti N, et al. Insights Into Myocardial Oxygenation and Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Tissue Biomarkers in Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction. Circ: Heart Failure [Internet]. 2022 Apr [cited 2022 Apr 25];15(4). Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.121.008903
- 188. Elharram M, Hillier E, Hawkins S, Mikami Y, Heydari B, Merchant N, et al. Regional Heterogeneity in the Coronary Vascular Response in Women With Chest Pain and Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease. Circulation. 2021 Feb 16;143(7):764–6.
- 189. Bertrand T, Bartlett-Esquilant G, Fischer K, Friedrich MG. Patient and physician preferences for non-invasive diagnostic cardiovascular imaging technologies: a discrete choice experiment. J Patient Rep Outcomes. 2022 Dec;6(1):15.
- 190. Wu C, Zhang K, Odden MC, Kucharska-Newton AM, Palta P, Matsushita K, et al. Subclinical Vascular Disease Burden and Premature Mortality Among Middle-aged Adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. J GEN INTERN MED. 2021 Jul;36(7):2048–54.

- 191. Snelder SM, Groot-de Laat LE, Biter LU, Castro Cabezas M, Pouw N, Birnie E, et al. Subclinical cardiac dysfunction in obesity patients is linked to autonomic dysfunction: findings from the CARDIOBESE study. ESC Heart Failure. 2020 Dec;7(6):3726–37.
- 192. Costanian C, McCague H, Tamim H. Age at natural menopause and its associated factors in Canada: cross-sectional analyses from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Menopause. 2018 Mar;25(3):265–72.
- 193. Tunc E, Eve AA, Madak-Erdogan Z. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction and Estrogen Receptor Signaling. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2020 Mar;31(3):228–38.
- 194. Shimizu Y, Yamanashi H, Noguchi Y, Koyamatsu J, Nagayoshi M, Kiyoura K, et al. Association between height and circulating CD34-positive cells taken into account for the influence of enhanced production among elderly Japanese men: a cross-sectional study. Aging. 2019 Jan 29;11(2):663–72.
- 195. Harada T, Kajikawa M, Maruhashi T, Kishimoto S, Yamaji T, Han Y, et al. Short stature is associated with low flow-mediated vasodilation in Japanese men. Hypertens Res. 2022 Feb;45(2):308–14.
- 196. Yano S. Does body height affect vascular function? Hypertens Res. 2022 Feb;45(2):369–71.
- 197. Guensch DP, Nadeshalingam G, Fischer K, Stalder AF, Friedrich MG. The impact of hematocrit on oxygenation-sensitive cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2016 Jul 20;18(1):42.

<u>11. Declarations</u>

Conflicts of Interest:

KL reports no conflicts of interests. MGF is an external consultant to Circle Cardiovascular Imaging Inc and co-founder of Area19 Medical Inc. MGF is listed as a holder of: United States Patent No. 14/419,877: Inducing and measuring myocardial oxygenation changes as a marker for heart disease; United States Patent No. 15/483,712: Measuring oxygenation changes in tissue as a marker for vascular function; United States Patent No 10,653,394: Measuring oxygenation changes in tissue as a marker for vascular function - continuation; Canadian Patent CA2020/051776: Method and apparatus for determining biomarkers of vascular function utilizing bold CMR images. MGF is shareholder and advisor of Circle Cardiovascular Imaging Inc. and Area19 Medical Inc.

EH is listed as a holder of Canadian Patent CA2020/051776: Method and apparatus for determining biomarkers of vascular function utilizing bold CMR images.